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Corporate profile

Cogent is one of the leading providers of total 
logistics management services in Singapore, 
serving customers of various industries, 
notably the OPEC (Oil, Petroleum, Energy and 
Chemicals), steel and shipping.  

Its extensive portfolio of customers include local and international 
corporations such as A.P. Moller-Maersk A/S, The Polyolefin Company, 
Mitsui O.S.K. Lines, Keppel FELS and NatSteel. 
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THE GROUP’S CORE BUSINESSES COMPRISE:

tRAnsPoRtAtion
mAnAgement seRVices
 
With a specialized fleet of more than 100 
prime movers, Cogent is a major player 
in the transportation logistics operations 
in Singapore.  Apart from container and 
break-bulk trucking, Cogent also provides 
specialised equipment support and 
possesses expertise in handling wide 
variety of out-of-gauge cargoes, ad-hoc 
projects and heavy lift services such as 
factory removal and set-up, exhibitions 
and barging.
 
The Cogent team is trained and certified 
to handle and transport dangerous goods, 
and manage emergencies.

WARehoUsing & contAineR
dePot mAnAgement seRVices
 
Cogent, being one of the early and 
leading players in chemical logistics 
services, operates 3 warehousing facilities 
that provide comprehensive logistics 
services, including drum-filling of chemical 
products, warehouse storage for NEA 
and SCDF licensed products and general 

cargoes, inventory management as well 
as distribution. Bonded facilities are also 
available to cater to clients’ re-export 
shipping requirements. All warehouse 
personnel handling dangerous cargoes 
and chemicals are trained and have 
adequate experience and knowledge 
in the handling and storing chemical 
cargoes. In addition, Cogent has a team 
of trained and experienced Emergency 
Response Team (ERT) personnel ready to 
handle any spillage incident. 
 
The Group presently manages and 
leases approximately 3.5 million square 
feet of covered and open storage space 
in Singapore.  It has one of the largest 
depot premises in Singapore located at 
a single location, which can store more 
than 20,000 TEUs (Twenty-foot Equivalent 
Units). 
 
The Group is in the midst of developing 
an integrated, full-service logistics hub in 
Tanjong Kling which, when completed, will 
expand the capacity of its warehousing and 
container depot management services, 
and elevate its operating productivity.
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AUtomotiVe logistics mAnAgement seRVices
 
Licensed by Singapore Customs to store dutiable motor vehicles at multiple sites, 
Cogent processes, transports and stores automobiles, assists with port and customs 
clearance and handles time-sensitive deliveries. 
 
It is also licensed to operate in the Export Processing Zone which includes de-registration 
and export of pre-owned motor vehicles.  In addition, Cogent assists the government 
agencies or authorities in the repossession of cars with outstanding road taxes and 
the impounding of illegally-modified cars as well as the removal of vehicles involved in 
accidents.

PRoPeRtY mAnAgement seRVices
 
In 2012, Cogent, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Cogent Land Capital, redeveloped 
the former Turf Club, and transformed it into a 1 million square feet lifestyle hub called The 
Grandstand.  Located in the heart of the affluent precinct of Bukit Timah, The Grandstand 
offers an eclectic infusion of food & beverage concepts, a cluster of enrichment 
and activity centres for children, a host of retail outlets including a hypermarket and 
Singapore’s first farmers’ market featuring more than 70 independent gourmet grocers 
and specialty stores. 
 
It is also home to one of the largest car marts in Singapore with more than 140 car 
showrooms.
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Dear Shareholders,

FY2013 was a very good year for Cogent 
Holdings.  The Group reported a 95% 
jump in net profit to $15.1 million, driven by 
stronger performance of our Warehousing 
and Container Depot Management 
Services, Automotive Logistics 
Management Services and Property 
Management Services segments. 

In view of our spectacular performance 
in FY2013, the Directors are pleased to 
propose a first and final cash dividend of 
1.26 Singapore cents per ordinary share 
which is at least six times the size of the 
dividend distributed a year ago.

segment ReVieW

During FY2013, the full-year revenue 
contribution from Property Management 
Services, which grew 108.6% to $22.3 
million, propelled the Group’s revenue 
upwards by 17% to S$112.8 million. 

The growth of this relatively new business 
segment was largely due to the increased 
level of tenancy secured at The Grandstand 
which has been enjoying a healthy growth 
in occupancy since it commenced 
operations in March 2012.  We believe 
that its positioning as a one-stop family 
lifestyle destination in affluent Bukit Timah, 
with a wide array of retail services, food 
& beverage, children’s education, and one 
of the largest car malls in Singapore has 
contributed to The Grandstand’s success.

The Group’s Warehouse and Container 
Depot Management Services segment 
benefited from robust cargo volume and 
container throughput during the year, 
and registered a 6.8% jump in revenue to 
$40.6 million.   Its Automotive Logistics 
Management Services business delivered 
an 11.4% increase in revenue to $21.6 
million, thanks to higher demand for 
vehicle storage.

CHairMaN’S MeSSaGe
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The Group’s Transportation Management 
Services segment posted revenue of 
$30.5 million which was comparable to 
the year-ago period.

For FY2013, the Group’s basic earnings 
per ordinary share surged 95% to 3.16 
Singapore cents, while net asset value 
per ordinary share rose 22.5% to 16.29 
Singapore cents as at 31 December 2013.
 
cogent1.logistics hUB

Meanwhile, we look forward to the 
completion and opening of our multi-level 
ramp-up warehouse complete with a roof-
top container depot – Cogent1.Logistics 
Hub - by the end of 2014.

Cogent1.Logistics Hub incorporates our 
patented building structure which are 
registered in Singapore, Europe and China, 
and will enable the Group to consolidate  
our resources, enhance our warehousing 
capabilities, and boost productivity.

BUsiness oUtlooK

We believe that the Hub will be a game 
changer for the logistics industry as it 
elevates our warehousing and container 

depot business to a whole new level, and 
positions Cogent as an innovative player 
in Singapore’s vibrant logistics space.  

Amidst the uncertainty in the global 
macroeconomic environment, we will 
continue with our strategy of consolidating 
our logistics operations, and steering the 
Group on a robust growth track towards 
better-value returns for our shareholders 

APPReciAtion

We hope this growth momentum will 
continue in the years ahead as we 
rally together as a team to take on the 
challenges, present and future. 

On this note, I would like to thank all of 
my fellow directors on the Board for their 
contribution, counsel and commitment.  
I would also like to thank all of our 
management and staff, shareholders, 
business partners and associates for their 
continued commitment and support for 
the Group.

Tan Yeow Khoon
Executive Chairman & CEO
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tAn YeoW Khoon
Executive Chairman And CEO

Mr Tan Yeow Khoon is our Executive 
Chairman and CEO and the founder 
of our Group. Mr Tan Yeow Khoon 
has more than 40 years of experience 
in the logistics services industry. Mr 
Tan Yeow Khoon began working in 
his family business in 1963. In the 
1970s, Mr Tan Yeow Khoon took 
over the family business and set 
up a partnership known as Soon 
Hock Transport which provided 
transportation management services 
for the delivery of goods from the 
Singapore ports to designated 
premises of its customers. Mr Tan 
Yeow Khoon has been instrumental 
in the growth of the family business, 
which has since expanded to include 
container storage, warehouse 
management services, and property 
management services.
 
As the Executive Chairman and CEO 
of our Group, Mr Tan Yeow Khoon 
oversees all business operations of 
our Group, including making major 
business and finance decisions.

Mr Tan Yeow Khoon is the brother of 
Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam, Managing 
Director and substantial shareholder 
of the Company. He is also the father 
of Mr Tan Min Cheow, Benson, an 
Executive Director and Deputy CEO 
of the Company.
 

edWin tAn YeoW lAm
Managing Director

Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam is our 
Managing Director. Since 1976, 
together with Mr Tan Yeow Khoon, 
Mr Edwin Tan has been involved in 
the operations of the family business 
throughout its growth and expansion 
and has accumulated more than 33 
years of experience in the logistics 
services industry. As the Managing 
Director of our Group, Mr Edwin Tan 
oversees the business operations of 
our Group and is jointly involved in 
the decision making process of key 
business plans of our Group with Mr 
Tan Yeow Khoon.

Mr Edwin Tan is the brother of Mr Tan 
Yeow Khoon, Executive Chairman, 
CEO and controlling shareholder of 
the Company. He is also the uncle 
of Mr Tan Min Cheow, Benson, an 
Executive Director and Deputy CEO 
of the Company.

tAn min cheoW, Benson
Executive Director and Deputy CEO
 
Mr Tan Min Cheow, Benson joined SH 
Cogent Logistics Pte Ltd (“SHCL”) in 
2004 after completing his studies. He 
is responsible for setting the group 
strategic directions and overseeing 
the group business. Mr Benson Tan 
has been instrumental in obtaining 
various key contracts and long-term 
partnerships for the provision of 
logistics services with big players in 
the industries such as Keppel FELS, 
The Polyolefin Company (S) Pte. Ltd., 
NatSteel Group and ArcelorMittal 
Singapore Private Limited.
 
In 2011, Mr Benson Tan started 
Cogent Land Capital Pte. Ltd. 
(“CLC”), a property management arm 
of the Group and serve as its CEO. 
CLC has taken over the management 
of a one million square feet state-
property at 200 Turf Club Road. 
Under his leadership, the property has 
been successfully rebranded into a 
popular family and lifestyle destination 
known as “The Grandstand”. The 
Grandstand houses a wide variety 
of dining and services outlets, kids’ 
activities clusters and pre-owned car 
showrooms.
 
Mr Benson Tan is the son of our 
Executive Chairman, CEO and 
controlling shareholder, Mr Tan 
Yeow Khoon and the nephew of our 
Managing Director and substantial 
shareholder, Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam.

BoarD of DireCtorS
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chAn soo sen
Lead Independent Director

Mr Chan Soo Sen is our Lead 
Independent Director. He also holds 
directorships in a few listed companies 
in Singapore, namely Midas Holdings 
Limited, BreadTalk Group Limited and 
SunMoon Food Company Limited.

Mr Chan had served in various 
ministries including the Prime 
Minister’s Office, Ministry of Health, 
Ministry of Community Development, 
Youth and Sports, Ministry of 
Education, and Ministry of Trade 
and Industry from 1997 to 2006. In 
2001, he was appointed Minister 
of State. He retired from ministerial 
appointments in May 2006. He 
served as Member of Parliament for 
Joo Chiat Constituency from 2001 to 
2011. He joined Keppel Corporation 
Ltd as Director, Chairman’s Office to 
oversee general management of staff 
from July 2006 to June 2009. Before 
entering politics, Mr Chan played 
an instrumental role in the starting 
up of the China-Singapore Suzhou 
Industrial Park as its founding chief 
executive officer in 1994 and was 
also the executive director of the 
Chinese Development Assistance 
Council in 1992. Mr Chan graduated 
from the University of Oxford, United 
Kingdom in 1978 and holds a Master 
in Management Science from the 
University of Stanford, United States 
of America.

Mr Chan does not have any 
relationships including immediate 
family relationships with the Directors, 
the Company or its 10% shareholders 
as defined in the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012.

chUA cheoW Khoon, michAel
Independent Director

Mr Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael is 
our Independent Director. 

He is an Executive Director of BMD 
Consulting Pte Ltd, a management 
consultancy practice in Singapore.  He 
is also both the Chairman and Lead 
Independent Director of JB Foods 
Limited and a Lead Independent 
Director of Cedar Strategic Holdings 
Ltd (formerly known as China 
Titanium Ltd), companies listed on 
the Mainboard and the Catalist Board 
of SGX-ST, respectively. Previously, 
he was the chief investment officer 
of Sapphire Corporation Limited 
and Non-Executive Director of 
National Car Rentals Pte Ltd.  
He has more than 30 years of 
experience in accounting, corporate 
finance, general management and 
management consultancy and has 
held senior positions in multinational 
companies including the Singapore 
Technologies group of companies and 
the Sembcorp group of companies. 
Mr Michael Chua holds a degree 
in accountancy from the Mitchell 
College of Advanced Education and 
is a Fellow of CPA Australia.

Mr Michael Chua does not have any 
relationships including immediate 
family relationships with the Directors, 
the Company or its 10% shareholders 
as defined in the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012.

teo liP hUA, Benedict
Independent Director

Mr Teo Lip Hua, Benedict is our 
Independent Director.

He has more than 20 years of 
experience in the legal industry and 
specialises in corporate finance, capital 
market, mergers and acquisitions, 
general corporate matters and China 
related matters. He is currently a 
Director of the Corporate & Finance 
Department at Drew & Napier LLC. 
He holds a Bachelor of Laws and a 
Master of Laws (Chinese Law) from 
the National University of Singapore. 
He is also a member of the Singapore 
Academy of Law and the Law Society 
of Singapore.
 
Mr Benedict Teo does not have any 
relationships including immediate 
family relationships with the Directors, 
the Company or its 10% shareholders 
as defined in the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012.
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SeNior MaNaGeMeNt
AlVin tAn KoK siAn
Director of Business Development

Mr Alvin Tan Kok Sian has more than 
20 years of experience in the logistics 
services industry. He joined SH Cogent 
Logistics Pte Ltd (“SHCL”) in 1993 and 
has since been in charge of the business 
development of our Group. He oversees 
the container depot operations of our 
Group and is responsible for the sales and 
marketing and customer relations of our 
Group.

Mr Alvin Tan Kok Sian is the brother-in-
law of our Executive Chairman and CEO, 
Mr Tan Yeow Khoon and our Managing 
Director, Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam.

loY sUAn choo
Group Financial Controller

Mr Loy Suan Choo oversees and manages 
the Group’s finance function including 
accounting, group financial reporting, 
taxation, compliance, treasury, investment 
appraisal and internal controls. 

Mr Loy joined the Group in July 2009. 
He has at least 17 years of experience 
in accounting, finance and audit. He 
graduated from Nanyang Technological 
University with a Bachelor of Accountancy 
in 1996. He is a member of the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants.
 

ong Bei KeAU
General Manager, HR /Admin

Ms Ong Bei Keau is responsible for the full 
spectrum of human resource management 
and administrative functions in the Group. 
She oversees all matters relating to 
human resource, security, safety, facility, 
insurance and claims as well as regulatory 
and legal issues. Ms Ong has worked in 
the logistics industry for the last 40 years.

YAP chee sing
General Manager, Chairman’s Office

Mr Yap Chee Sing is responsible for 
assisting the Chairman in all matters 
relating to the operations of our Group. 
His job responsibilities include liaising 
with the management staff and executing 
management plans assigned by the 
Chairman. 

Prior to joining SHCL in 2008, Mr Yap 
had accumulated more than 19 years of 
experience in the logistics industry, having 
previously been with Asahi Techno Vision 
(S) Pte Ltd and the Steamers Maritime 
Holding Limited group of companies. Mr 
Yap holds a Bachelor of Theology from the 
Southeast Asia Union College, Singapore 
and a Bachelor of Science in Business 
Administration from Walla Walla College, 
USA.
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fiNaNCial HiGHliGHtS

Profit before tax (S$’m) net PRofit (s$’m)
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operatioNS & fiNaNCial reVieW
ResUlts of gRoUP oPeRAtions

 fY2013 fY2012 Change
 S$’000 S$’000 %

revenue   
Transportation management services 30,515 31,215 -2%
Warehousing and container depot management services  40,630 38,057 7%
Automotive logistics management services               21,558 19,350 11%
Property management services               22,297 10,687 109%
Inter-segment eliminations              (2,161) (3,133) -31%
total revenue             112,839 96,176 17%
        
Other operating income                1,130 541  109%
Cost of services             (61,275) (56,441) 9%
Employee benefits expense             (21,579)  (19,101) 13%
Depreciation expense               (6,501) (5,650) 15%
Other operating expenses               (6,230) (5,372) 16%
Finance costs                  (131) (191) -31%
Share of loss of joint ventures                  (216) (219) -1%
        
Profit before tax              18,037 9,743  85%
        
Income tax expense               (2,908) (1,984) 47%
Profit for the year, representing total       
  comprehensive income for the year attributable       
  to owners of Company              15,129 7,759  95%



11
cogent holdings limited aNNUal report 2013

ReVenUe

For the financial year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), the Group reported revenue 
of $112.8 million, an increase of $16.7 million or 17% over that of prior financial year 
(“FY2012”). The increase in revenue was led by the Group’s Property Management 
Services segment of which revenue grew by $11.6 million or 109%, from $10.7 million 
to $22.3 million in FY2013. The business segment benefitted from healthy growth in 
occupancy level over a full 12-month period in FY2013, which was longer than the 
10-month period of operations in FY2012. The Warehousing and Container Depot 
Management Services segment had also generated higher revenue of $40.6 million 
in FY2013 - an increase of $2.6 million, or 7%, over that of FY2012, driven largely 
by an increase in cargo volume and container throughput handled. The Automotive 
Logistics Management Services segment delivered revenue of $21.6 million, an increase 
of $2.2 million, or 11%, from that of FY2012, chiefly due to increased business in vehicle 
storage. On the other hand, the Group’s Transportation Management Services segment 
generated revenue of $30.5 million in FY2013 - a decrease of $0.7 million or 2%, as a 
result of moderate slowdown in trade volume.  

otheR oPeRAting income

The Group’s other operating income increased by $0.6 million, or 109%, from $0.5 million 
to $1.1 million in FY2013. The increase was largely attributable to foreign exchange gain, 
monetary award for success in The Next Generation Container Port (NGCP) Challenge, 
insurance claims and forfeiture of customers’ deposits.

cost of seRVices

The Group’s cost of services increased by $4.8 million, or 9%, from $56.4 million to 
$61.3 million in FY2013. The increase was largely due to the following:

- increase in rental and utility costs attributable to 12 months’ operations at The 
Grandstand during FY2013 (FY2012: 10 months’ operations); and

- increase in rental cost at certain warehousing facilities.
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exPenses

Employee benefits expenses increased by $2.5 million, or 13%, from $19.1 million to 
$21.6 million in FY2013. The increase was mainly due to higher provision for profit-
based bonus, 12 months of operations at The Grandstand during FY2013 (FY2012: 10 
months), and increase in employee head count.

Depreciation charges increased by $0.9 million, or 15%, from $5.7 million to $6.5 million. 
The increase was largely attributable to depreciation on renovation works completed at 
The Grandstand.

Other operating expenses increased by $0.9 million, or 16%, from $5.4 million to $6.2 
million. The increase was mainly due to the increase in repair and maintenance of 
business premises.        

Finance cost decreased by 31% due to further repayment of bank term loans and 
finance leases.

PRofitABilitY

For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the Group’s net profit after tax increased 
by $7.3 million, or 95%, from $7.8 million to $15.1 million. The improved bottom line 
was driven by stronger performance delivered by most of the Group’s core operations, 
notably the Warehousing and Container Depot Management Services segment, 
Automotive Logistics Management Service segment and the Property Management 
Service segment. The Transportation Management Service segment reported lower 
profit on the back of decreased revenue and increased operating overheads.
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Assets And liABilities

 31.12.13 31.12.12 Change
 S$’000 S$’000 %

Current assets 67,334 55,942 20%
Non-current assets            125,814  51,699 143%
total assets            193,148 107,641 79%
      
Current liabilities              57,539 32,955  75%
Non-current liabilities              57,668 10,917  428%
total liabilities            115,207 43,872  163%

Current assets increased by $11.4 million, or 20%, from $55.9 million as at 31 December 
2012 to $67.3 million as at 31 December 2013. The increase was largely due to increase 
of $11.7 million in cash and bank balances, offset by decrease of $0.3 million in trade 
receivables and other receivables.

Non-current assets increased by $74.1 million, or 143%, from $51.7 million as at 31 
December 2012 to $125.8 million as at 31 December 2013. The net increase resulted 
mainly from the following:

•	 increase	of	$75.2	million	in	property,	plant	and	equipment	largely	due	to	$77.2	million	
cost invested in constructing the integrated logistics hub, offset by depreciation charges; 

•	 decrease	of	$0.9	million	in	non-current	other	receivable	mainly	due	to	amortization	of	
prepayments and trade discounts granted to customers; and                       

•	 decrease	of	$0.2	million	in	investment	in	joint	ventures	due	to	share	of	losses	incurred	
by joint ventures during FY2013;
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Current liabilities increased by $24.6 million, or 75%, from $33.0 million as at 31 
December 2012 to $57.5 million as at 31 December 2013. The increase was mainly due 
to the following:

•	 increase	of	$20.3	million	in	other	payables	due	to	increase	in	cost	accrued	for	integrated	
logistics hub, rental deposits, advanced payments received from customers, and 
provision for staff bonus;

•	 increase	of	$1.8	million	 in	 trade	payables	due	 to	decrease	 in	advance	billing	 from	
vendors;

•	 increase	of	$1.2	million	in	current	portion	of	bank	loans;	and
•	 increase	of	$0.7	million	in	income	tax	payable.

Non-current liabilities increased by $46.8 million, or 428%, from $10.9 million as at 31 
December 2012 to $57.7 million as at 31 December 2013. The increase was largely due 
to the following:

•	 increase	of	$46.8	million	 in	bank	 loan	(non-current	portion)	due	to	 increase	 in	 loan	
drawdown to finance the construction of integrated logistics hub, offset by repayment 
of other term loan;

•	 increase	of	$0.9	million	 in	other	payable	(non-current	portion)	was	due	to	retention	
sum in respect of the construction of integrated logistics hub; and offset by

•	 decrease	of	$1.0	million	in	deferred	income	as	a	result	of	amortization	in	FY2013.
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cAsh floWs

 fY2013 fY2012 Change
 S$’000 S$’000 %

Net cash from operating activities              45,789 30,418  51%
Net cash used in investing activities            (30,642) (27,436) 12%
Net cash used in financing activities              (1,271) (2,836) -55%
        
net increase in cash and cash equivalents              13,876 146  9404%

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year               46,101 32,225  43%

During FY2013, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents increased by $13.9 million from 
$32.2 million as at 31 December 2012 to $46.1 million as at 31 December 2013.

Net cash generated from operating activities was $45.8 million in FY2013 as compared 
with $$30.4 million in FY2012. The improvement was due to higher net operating profit and 
improved working capital movement in FY2013.                                                                                

Net cash used in investing activities was $30.6 million in FY2013 as compared with $27.4 
million in FY2012. The increase was largely due to acquisition of new prime movers and 
cost in constructing the integrated logistics hub.                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
Net cash used in financing activities was $1.3 million in FY2013 as compared with $2.8 
million in FY2012. The decrease was mainly due to the full repayment of a bank loan during 
first half of FY2013 and the release of $2.2 million of pledged deposit, offset by dividend 
payment of $1.0 million and higher finance lease repayment.



Total bank borrowings are secured by the following:-

•	 a	first	mortgage	over	certain	properties	of	a	subsidiary;
•	 fixed	charge	over	certain	property,	plant	and	equipment;	and
•	 corporate	guarantee	from	the	company.
 
In addition, the new loans in 2013 are also secured by the following:
•	 fixed	and	floating	charge	over	all	assets	of	a	subsidiary;
•	 an	assignment	of	the	rights,	interests	and	benefits	arising	under	the	construction	contract	

and performance bonds relating to the construction of a property (“Property”); and
•	 an	assignment	of	 the	 rights,	 interests	and	benefits	arising	under	 the	 insurance	policies	

relating to the construction of the Property.
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 31.12.13 31.12.12 Change
 S$’000 S$’000 %

Amount repayable in one year or less, or on demand                3,653 2,194  66%
Amount repayable after one year              50,235 3,401  1377%



The Board of Directors and Management of Cogent Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are committed to continually 
enhancing shareholder value by maintaining high standards of corporate governance, business integrity and professionalism 
in all its activities.

This Report sets out the corporate governance processes of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) with specific 
reference to the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”).

BOARD MATTERS 

Principle 1:  Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
 
The Board oversees the affairs of the Company and is accountable to the shareholders for the management of the 
Group’s business and its performance. The Board works with Management to achieve this and the Management remains 
accountable to the Board.

The principal duties of the Board include the following: 

•	 setting	and	approving	broad	policies	and	strategies	of	the	Group;	
•	 reviewing	management	performance;	
•	 reviewing	 the	 financial	performance	of	 the	Group	 including	approval	of	 its	half	 yearly	and	 full	 year	 financial	 results	

announcements,	annual	audited	accounts,	proposals	of	dividends	and	the	directors’	report	thereto;	
•	 reviewing	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	the	Group’s	risk	management	and	internal	controls	system;	and
•	 approval	of	budget,	major	funding	proposals,	acquisition	and	divestment	proposals.
 
To assist the Board to effectively discharge its oversight duties and functions, the Board has delegated certain 
duties to various Board committees. These committees, namely the Audit Committee (“AC”), Nominating Committee 
(“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”), function within clearly defined terms of reference and operating procedures, 
which are reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. The Board also closely monitors the effectiveness of each committee. 

The Company has also adopted and documented internal guidelines setting forth matters that require Board approval. 
Matters which are specifically reserved to the Board for approval are as follows: 

•	 financial	authorisation	and	setting	of	approval	limits	for	operating	and	capital	expenditure;
•	 major	changes	to	the	Group’s	management	and	control	structure;
•	 decision	on	cessation	of	operation	of	all	or	any	material	part	of	the	Group’s	business;
•	 material	acquisitions	and	disposal	of	assets	or	investments;
•	 major	funding	proposals;
•	 financial	reporting	and	dividends;	and
•	 any	other	matters	which	require	board	or	shareholders	approval	pursuant	to	the	SGX-ST	Listing	Manual,	Companies	

Act, Cap. 50 or other applicable rules and regulations.

The Board is scheduled to meet at least two times a year and where necessary, hold additional meetings to address 
significant issues that may arise. The Company’s Articles of Association provides for meetings to be held via telephone 
conference. Important matters concerning the Group are also being put to the Board for its decision by way of written 
resolutions. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The attendance of the directors at Board and Board committees meetings held during FY2013 are set out below:

Type of Meetings Board 
Audit 

Committee 
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Total number of meetings held 4 4 1 4

Name of Director and Attendance

Tan Yeow Khoon, Executive Chairman & CEO 2 N.A N.A N.A
Edwin Tan Yeow Lam, Managing Director 4 N.A N.A N.A
Tan Min Cheow, Benson, Executive Director and Deputy CEO* 3 N.A N.A N.A
Chan Soo Sen, Lead Independent Director 4 4 1 4
Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael, Independent Director 4 4 1 4
Teo Lip Hua, Benedict, Independent Director 3 4 1 4

N.A:  Not Applicable

Note:	 *	Appointed	as	Executive	Director	and	Deputy	CEO	on	1	March	2013

New directors were briefed on the business activities, strategic directions, policies and corporate governance practices 
of the Group. Directors are provided with updates and briefings from time to time by professional advisers, auditor and 
management on relevant practices, new laws, rules and regulations, directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate 
governance, changes in accounting standards and risk management issues applicable or relevant to the performance of 
their duties and responsibilities as directors.

Directors are also informed and encouraged to attend relevant training programmes organised by the Singapore Institute 
of Directors and may suggest training topics, the funding of which will be provided by the Company. 

Mr Tan Min Cheow, Benson, who was appointed as an Executive Director and Deputy CEO of the Company on 1 March 2013 
has attended a Listed Company Director Programme conducted by Singapore Institute of Directors, namely Understanding 
the Regulatory Environment in Singapore: What Every Director Ought to Know at the expense of the Company.

Principle 2:  Board Composition and Balance 

The Board comprises six directors, three of whom are Independent Directors. 

The NC reviews the independence of each director annually based on the definitions and guidelines set out in the 
Code.  All directors are required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals and at least 
once every three years. A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election. The directors to retire in each year shall be those, 
subject to retirement by rotation, who have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment. Key information 
regarding the directors, including directorships or chairmanships both present and those held over the preceding three 
years in other listed companies and other principal commitments are set out in pages 6 to 7 of this Annual Report.

There is a good balance between the executive and non-executive directors and a strong element of independence in the 
Board to enable an objective judgment of the corporate affairs of the Group by Board members.

As a group, the directors bring with them a broad range of industry knowledge, expertise and experience in areas such as 
legal, financial and accounting and general management.  The diversity of the directors’ experience will allow for constructive 
exchange of ideas and view as well as provide for effective decision-making. The Board has assessed and considers the 
present size appropriate for the current nature and scope of the Group’s business operations.  

The Board reviews and constructively challenges management on its assumptions and proposals; and oversees 
the development of the Group’s strategic proposals. The Board also oversees the performance and effectiveness of 
management in achieving set objectives.
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Meeting sessions for the independent directors without the presence of management or executive directors are held, where 
necessary. The independent directors meet at least once annually without the presence of management.

None of the directors have served on the Board of the Company for a period exceeding nine years.

Principle 3:  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Pursuant to the Code, the chairman of the board of directors and the chief executive officer should be separate persons, 
to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent 
decision-making.

Although Mr Tan Yeow Khoon serves as the Executive Chairman and CEO of the Company, the Board is of the opinion 
that it is not necessary to separate the roles of the Chairman and CEO after taking into account the size, scope and the 
nature of the operations of the Group. Mr Tan Yeow Khoon is the founder of the Group and has played an instrumental 
role in developing the business of the Group. He has considerable industry experience and has also provided the Group 
with strong leadership and vision. It is hence the view of the Board that it is in the best interests of the Group to adopt a 
single leadership structure. The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and checks in place to ensure that 
management is accountable to the Board as a whole. The NC, RC and AC comprise and are all chaired by independent 
directors. In addition, Mr Chan Soo Sen has been appointed as the lead independent director of the Company and is 
available to the shareholders in respect of concerns which contact through the normal channel of the Chairman has failed 
to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

In view of the above, the directors are of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process 
of decision-making by the Board is independent and is based on collective decision-making without Mr Tan Yeow Khoon 
being able to exercise considerable concentration of power or influence.

The Executive Chairman approves board meeting schedules and agendas for board meetings in consultation with the 
directors. The Board is advised of the meeting of Board Committees. He also promotes a culture of openness and debate 
at the Board, and ensures that the independent directors are able to contribute effectively. In addition, he ensures all 
directors receive complete, adequate and timely information from time to time.

Principle 4:  Board Membership 

The NC comprises three independent directors. 

Chan Soo Sen (Chairman)
Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael (Member)
Teo Lip Hua, Benedict (Member)

The principal duties of the NC, as set out in its terms of reference include the following:

(a) review and assess all candidates for directorships before making recommendation to the Board for appointment of 
directors;

(b) review and recommend to the Board the retirement and re-election of directors in accordance with the Company’s 
Articles of Association at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”);

(c) review the independence of directors annually;
(d) review the size and composition of the Board annually to ensure that the Board has appropriate balance of independent 

directors and to ensure an appropriate balance of expertise, skills, attributes and ability among the directors;
(e) evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole; 
(f) review of board succession plans, in particular, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer;  and
(g) reviewing and approving any new employment of related persons and the proposed terms of their employment.

The directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular interval. Under the Articles of Association of 
the Company, at each AGM, one-third of the directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the 
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. Retiring directors are selected on the basis 
of those who have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment.
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The NC has reviewed and recommended for the re-election of Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam, Managing Director and Mr Chua 
Cheow Khoon, Michael, Independent Director of the Company who will be retiring pursuant to Article 94 at the forthcoming 
AGM. The Board has accepted the NC’s recommendation and the two retiring directors have offered themselves for re-
election.

The dates of initial appointment and last re-election of each director are set out as follows:

Name of director Appointment
Date of initial 
appointment

Date of last 
re-election

Tan Yeow Khoon Executive Chairman & CEO 18 June 2007 29 April 2013
Edwin Tan Yeow Lam Managing Director 18 June 2007 26 April 2011
Tan Min Cheow, Benson Executive Director and Deputy CEO 1 March 2013 29 April 2013
Chan Soo Sen Lead Independent Director 18 December 2009 29 April 2013
Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael Independent Director 18 December 2009 27 April 2012
Teo Lip Hua, Benedict Independent Director 18 December 2009 27 April 2012

The Board is of the view that setting a maximum number of listed company board representations would not be meaningful 
as the contributions of the directors would depend on many factors such as whether they were in full time employment 
and their other responsibilities. The NC will assess each director relative to his abilities and known commitments and 
responsibilities.

There are no alternate directors appointed to the Board.

On the process for selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors to the Board, the NC evaluates the balance 
of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and then makes recommendations to the Board for approval. For 
appointment of new director, the NC will meet with the shortlisted candidate to assess their suitability and availability before 
making recommendation to the Board for approval. 

Principle 5: Board Performance 

The Board has established evaluation procedures carried out by the NC, for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis. 

The Board has implemented a process which is carried out by the NC for assessing the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole taking into account, the contribution and devotion of time and attention of each individual director towards 
the effectiveness of the Board. Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of the 
assessment of his performance or re-nomination as director. The NC is satisfied that the directors have devoted sufficient 
time and attention to the Group. 

The NC assesses the performance of the Board via a performance evaluation questionnaire on board composition; board 
information; board process; internal control and risk management; board accountability; CEO performance and standard 
of conduct of the Board of which will be completed by each director. The NC reviews and discusses the findings and will 
ascertain key areas for improvement and requisite follow-up actions. The NC will then report its findings to the Board.

In its assessment of the Board effectiveness, the NC also takes into consideration the frequency of the Board meetings, the 
rate at which issues raised are adequately dealt with and the reports from the various Board Committees.
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Principle 6:  Access to Information 

The Board members are being provided with adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going 
basis. All relevant information including the Group’s forecast, annual budgets and financial statements are circulated to the 
directors for review prior to the Board meetings.

The Board has separate and independent access to the Group’s senior management and the Company Secretary. Requests 
for information from the Board are dealt with promptly. The Board is informed of all material events and transactions as and 
when they occur. Senior management is requested to attend Board meetings to provide additional insight on matters being 
discussed and to respond to any queries from directors as and when necessary.

The Company Secretary attends and prepares all minutes of the Board Committees meetings and assists the Chairman in 
ensuring that board procedures are observed and all applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The appointment 
and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to approval of the Board as a whole.

The Board may also take independent professional advice as and when necessary to enable them to make informed 
decisions to discharge its responsibilities effectively at the expense of the Company. 

REMUNERATION MATTERS 

Principle 7:  Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies 

Principle 8:  Level and Mix of Remuneration

The RC comprises three Independent Directors: 

Teo Lip Hua, Benedict (Chairman)
Chan Soo Sen (Member)
Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael (Member)

The principal duties of the RC, as set out in its terms of reference include the following:

(a) review and submit its recommendations for endorsement by the Board, a general framework of remuneration for the 
directors and senior management, 

(b) determines the specific remuneration packages and terms of employment for each executive director and key 
management personnel; and

(c) review the remuneration of senior management and employees related to the directors.

The Remuneration Committee has put in place a framework of remuneration for the directors and senior management. The 
Company adopts a remuneration policy for employees which comprises of a fixed component and a variable component. 
The fixed component is in the form of a base salary. The variable component is in the form of a variable bonus that is linked 
to the performance of the Company and the individual. Each member of the Remuneration Committee shall abstain from 
voting on any resolutions in respect of his remuneration package or that of employees related to him.

The remuneration policy for key executives is based largely on the Groups’s performance and the responsibilities and 
performance of each individual key executive. In setting the remuneration packages, the RC takes into consideration the 
pay and employment conditions within the industry and local practices.

The Company has entered into separate service agreements with the existing Executive Directors, namely Mr Tan Yeow 
Khoon, Executive Chairman and CEO and Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam, Managing Director. The service agreements are for an 
initial period of three years, commencing from date of admission of the Company on the Official List of the SGX-ST, subject 
to automatic renewal for another one-year term on the same terms and conditions upon expiry thereof. The company 
will also be entering into a service agreement with Mr Tan Min Cheow, Benson, Executive Director and Deputy CEO. The 
service agreements cover the terms of employment, salares and other benefits.

Independent directors have no service agreements and they receive Directors’ fees. Such fees take into account the level of 
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contribution and responsibilities of the directors as well as the need to pay competitive fees to attract, retain and motivate 
the Directors. These fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM.

For the financial year ending 31 December 2014, the Company has engaged an independent remuneration consultant, 
Freshwater Advisers Pte Ltd (“Freshwater”) to assist the RC in reviewing and determining the remuneration packages for 
each executive director, the Group’s remuneration framework and key management personnel. There is no relationship 
between the Company and Freshwater which would affect Freshwater’s independence and objectivity.

Currently, the Company has in place the following share option scheme and performance share plan:

(i)  Cogent Holdings Employee Share Option Scheme; and
(ii)  Cogent Holdings Performance Share Plan.

The abovementioned share option scheme and performance share plan shall be administered by the Administration Committee 
comprising of members of the RC and the NC.

As at present date, the Company has not implemented the Cogent Holdings Performance Share Plan or the Cogent 
Holdings Employee Share Option Scheme.  

Principle 9:  Disclosure of Remuneration 

Information on the remuneration of directors of the Company for FY2013 is as follows:

FY2013 Remuneration Band 
& Name of Directors

Salary
%

Bonus
%

Fees
%

Other 
Benefits

%
Total

%

S$1,250,000 to below S$1,500,000
Tan Yeow Khoon 23 71 - 6 100
S$1,000,000 to below S$1,250,000
Edwin Tan Yeow Lam 17 78 - 5 100
S$750,000 to below S$1,000,000
Tan Min Cheow, Benson* 22 71 - 7 100
Below S$250,000
Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael - - 100 - 100
Chan Soo Sen - - 100 - 100
Teo Lip Hua, Benedict - - 100 - 100

Note: * Appointed as Executive Director and Deputy CEO on 1 March 2013

Taking note of the competitive pressures in the industry and the talent market, the Board has on review decided to disclose 
the remuneration of the Board, three of whom are also key management personnel, in bands with a breakdown of the 
components in percentage.

Information on the remuneration of key management personnel of the Company for FY2013 is as follows:
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FY2013 Remuneration Band 
& Name of Key Executives

Salary
%

Bonus
%

Fees
%

Other 
Benefits

%
Total

%

S$250,000 to below S$500,000
Yap Chee Sing 33 56 - 11 100
Below S$250,000
Alvin Tan Kok Sian 59 22 - 19 100
Loy Suan Choo 62 23 - 15 100
Ong Bei Keau 64 24 - 12 100

Apart from the CEO, Managing Director and the Deputy CEO, the Group has only 4 other key management personnel. Key 
information on the key management personnel is set out on page 8 of this Annual Report.

For the financial year 2013, there were no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits granted to Directors, the 
CEO and key management personnel other than the payment in lieu of notice in the event of termination in their respective 
employment contracts.

Save as disclosed above and in the ‘Board of Directors’ section of the Annual Report 2013, there are no employees within 
the Group who are immediate family members (as defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST) of a Director or CEO of the 
Company, whose remuneration exceeds S$50,000 during the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 

Principle 10:  Accountability 

The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company and Group’s 
performance, position and prospects, including the half-year and full-year financial results announcements, as well as 
any other price-sensitive information through public announcements.

To enable the Board to make a balanced and informed assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects, 
the management provides the Board with management accounts and such explanation and information on a regular basis 
and as the Board may require from time to time.

Principle 11:   Risk Management and Internal Controls 

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and sets the tone and direction for the Group in the way risks are 
managed in the Group’s businesses. The Board has ultimate responsibility for approving the strategy of the Group in 
a manner which addresses stakeholders’ expectations and does not expose the Group to an unacceptable level of 
operational, financial and compliance risks. The Board approves the key management policies and ensures a sound 
system of risk management and internal controls and monitors performance against them. In addition to determining the 
approach to risk governance, the Board sets and instills the right risk-focused culture throughout the Group for effective 
risk governance.

The Board has approved a Group Risk Management Framework for the identification of key risks within the business which 
is aligned with the ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management framework. 

The AC assists the Board in its oversight of risk management.
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Management’s Responsibilities in Risk Management 

Management is responsible for designing, implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal control systems 
in accordance with the policies on risk management and internal controls.

The Management reports to the AC on the Group’s risk profile, the status of risk mitigation action plans and updates on 
the following areas:

•	 Assessment	of	the	Group’s	key	risks	by	major	business	units	and	risk	categories;
•	 Identification	of	specific	risk	owners	who	are	responsible	for	the	risks	identified;
•	 Description	of	the	processes	and	systems	in	place	to	identify	and	assess	risks	to	the	Group;
•	 Status	and	changes	in	plan	undertaken	to	manage	key	risks;	and
•	 Description	of	the	risk	monitoring	and	escalation	processes	and	also	systems	in	place.

Review of the Group’s Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

On a quarterly basis, the Management updates to the AC on changes to the risk profiles. On an annual basis, the management 
presents a detailed report to the Audit Committee and the Board on the Group’s risk profile, the risk mitigation action plans 
and the results of various assurance activities carried out on the adequacy of Group’s internal controls including financial, 
operational, compliance and information technology controls. Such assurance activities include control self-assessments 
performed by the management, internal, audits, external audits and external certifications conducted by various external 
professional service firms.  

The Board has obtained a written confirmation from the CEO and Group Financial Controller:

(a)  that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Group’s operations and finances; and

(b) regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

Board Opinion on the Adequacy of Internal Controls Addressing Financial, Operational, Compliance and 
Information Technology Risks

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external 
auditors, external certification centers and reviews performed by the management, various Board Committees and the 
Board, the Board (with concurrence of the AC) are of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, were adequate and effective 
as at 31 December 2013.

The system of internal controls and risk management established by the Company provides reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that the Company will not be adversely affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen as it strives to 
achieve its business objectives. However, the Board also notes that no system of internal controls and risk management 
can provide absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor 
judgement in decision-making, human errors, losses, fraud or other irregularities.
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Principle 12:  Audit Committee 

The AC comprises the following three Independent Directors who have relevant accounting and related financial management 
expertise and experience to discharge its AC functions:

Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael (Chairman)
Chan Soo Sen (Member)
Teo Lip Hua, Benedict (Member)

The AC meets periodically and performs the following main duties, as set out in its terms of reference: 

(a) review with the external auditor the audit plan, scope of work, their management letter and management’s responses, 
and the results of audits conducted by the internal and external auditors;  

(b) review the half-year and annual financial statements and results announcements before submission to the Board 
for approval, with emphasis on the significant financial reporting issues and judgements, changes in accounting 
policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, 
compliance with financial reporting standards as well as compliance with the Listing Manual and any other statutory/
regulatory requirements; 

(c) review the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal controls system, and ensure co-ordination 
between the internal auditor, the external auditor and management, reviewing the assistance given by management to 
the auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any matter which 
the auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of management where necessary); 

(d) review the adequacy and effectiveness of internal audit function and approves the appointment and removal of internal 
auditor;

(e) consider the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditor, and matters relating to resignation or dismissal of 
the auditor; 

(f) review and approve transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9; and
(g) generally to undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Manual, and by 

such amendments made thereto from time to time.

The AC is scheduled to meet at least four times a year and holds additional meetings, when necessary.  Apart from the 
duties listed above, the AC shall commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters where there 
is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore law, rule or regulation 
which has, or is likely to have, a material impact on the Group’s operating results and/or financial position.  Each member 
of the AC shall abstain from reviewing any particular transaction or voting on such resolution in respect of which he is or 
may be interested in. The AC meets with the internal and external auditors at least once annually without the presence of 
the management.

The independent directors do not have any existing business or professional relationship of a material nature with the 
Group, the directors or substantial shareholders.

The primary responsibility of the AC is to provide support and assistance to the Board in ensuring that a high standard 
of corporate governance is maintained at all times. The AC has full access to all senior management personnel and has full 
discretion to invite any director and/or key management personnel to attend its meetings. 

The AC has put in place procedures to provide employees of the Group with well-defined and accessible channels to report 
on suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest practices or other similar matters relating to the Group, and for the independent 
investigation of any reports by employees and appropriate follow up action. A whistle blowing policy has been adopted 
by the Company to encourage employees of the Group to report possible improprieties in matter of financial reporting 
or other matters in good faith, with the confidence that employees making such reports will be treated fairly, and to the 
extent possible, be protected from reprisal. Details of the policy have been made available to all employees who may raise 
concerns, if any directly to any member of the AC. To-date, there were no complaints received by the AC.   
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The AC has conducted an annual review of the non-audit services provided by the external auditors to satisfy itself that the 
nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the auditors. 

The Company and its subsidiaries are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP. In this regards, the Company is in compliance with 
Rule 712 and 715 of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST in relation to the appointment of auditors.

During the financial year, the AC reviewed the half-year and annual financial statements and results announcements; 
the internal and external audit plan and their results of audits; risk management and internal controls system; interested 
person transactions; non-audit services provided by the external auditor and their independence; and the report on the 
administration of the Whistle Blowing Programme of the Group. The internal and external auditors provides regular updates 
and briefings to the AC on changes or amendments to accounting standards to enable the AC to keep abreast of such 
changes and its corresponding impact on the financial statements, if any. 

Principle 13:  Internal Audit 

The Company outsources its internal audit function to Yang Lee & Associates. The internal auditors (“IA”) report directly 
to the AC and internal control weaknesses identified during the internal audit reviews and the recommended corrective 
actions are reported to the AC periodically.

The AC reviews and approves the internal audit scope and plan to ensure that there is sufficient coverage of the Group’s 
activities. It also oversees the implementation of the internal audit plan and ensures that Management provides the 
necessary co-operation to enable the IA to perform its function. 

The IA is guided by the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (IIA Standards) issued by 
the Institute of Internal Auditors.

The AC annually reviews the adequacy of the internal audit function to ensure that the internal audits are performed 
effectively. The AC is satisfied that the IA is staffed by qualified and experienced personnel. 

The IA completed one review during the financial year ended 31 December 2013 in accordance with the internal control 
testing plan developed and approved by the Board under the Group Risk Management Framework. The findings and 
recommendations of the IA, management’s responses, and management’s implementation of the recommendations have 
been reviewed and approved by the AC.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Principle 14:  Shareholder Rights

Principle 15:  Communication with Shareholders 

Principle 16:  Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

The Company’s corporate governance practices promote the fair and equitable treatment to all of its shareholders. The 
Board strives to ensure that all material information is disclosed to the shareholders in an adequate and timely manner. 
The Board informs and communicates with shareholders through annual reports, announcement releases through the 
SGXNet, advertisement of notice of general meetings and at general meetings of the Company. 

The Company strongly encourages and supports shareholders participation at general meetings. At general meetings 
of the Company, shareholders will be given opportunity to express their views, concerns and ask questions regarding 
the Company and the Group.

The Company’s general meetings are the forum for dialogue with shareholders and allow the Board and the 
management to address shareholders views and concerns. Chairperson of the AC, NC and RC, or members of the 
respective Board Committees standing in for them, as well as external auditors will be present and available to field 
questions raised at general meetings of the Company.
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To facilitate participation by the shareholders, the Company’s Articles of Association allows a shareholder to appoint not 
more than two proxies to attend and vote at general meetings. However, as the authentication of shareholder identity 
information and other related security issues still remain a concern, the Company has decided, for the time being, not to 
implement voting in absentia by mail, email or fax.   

Shareholders who hold shares through nominees such as CPF and custodian banks may vote through their nominee or 
custodian banks. Such shareholders may also, upon presentation of official letters issued by their nominees attend the 
general meeting as observers.

Currently, the Company has yet to implement poll voting in all its general meetings in view of the higher costs of doing 
polling. The Board is of the view that shareholders are better served by having the Company’s resources devoted on value-
added activities. The Company will consider such method of voting in the future, where appropriate.

The Company does not have a formal investor relations policy. Pertinent information is regularly conveyed to the shareholders 
through SGXNet and the Company’s website at http://www.cogentholdingsltd.com/.

There is no formal dividend policy adopted by the Company as it was not practical for the Company to implement one due 
to the capital commitment of the Group as a whole. The Company pays dividends out of profits available for distribution 
and where there are sufficient cash flow available to fund the payment of any proposed dividend.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS 

The Company monitors all its interested person transactions closely and all interested person transactions are subject 
to review by the AC. 

The aggregate value of interested person transactions entered into during FY2013 which fall under Chapter 9 of the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST are as follows:

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during 

the financial year under review 
(excluding transactions less 

than S$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
during the financial year under 

review under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 

(excluding transactions less than 
S$100,000)

S$’000 S$’000

Construction of integrated logistics hub
- SH Design & Build Pte Ltd (73,413) ^ -
Fee paid for use of parking facility
- SH Design & Build Pte Ltd (185) -
Income earned from provision of transportation 
logistics services
- SH Design & Build Pte Ltd
- Asia Pacific Wine Hub Pte Ltd

130
4

-
-

Income from office rental and utility recovery
- SH Design & Build Pte Ltd
- Soon Hock Investment Group Pte Ltd
- Phoenix Wines Pte Ltd

52
57
9

-
-
-

^ This relates to a contract awarded to SH Design & Build Pte Ltd for the design and construction of the integrated logistics 
hub at Tanjong Kling Road. The award of the contract was approved by shareholders in an Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 27 June 2012.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed under the section on Interested Person Transactions above and in Note 5 (Related Party And Other 
Transactions) of the Notes To Financial Statements, there were no other material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries 
involving the interests of the chief executive officer, each director or controlling shareholder, either still subsisting at the end 
of the financial year or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

As at the date of the Report of the Directors, the status on the use of proceeds raised from the rights issue (“Rights Issue”) 
of the Company is as follows:

Allocation
S$’million

Amount utilised
S$’million

Amount yet to be utilised
S$’million

Proceeds from Rights Issue

For construction of integrated logistics hub 17.2 17.2 -

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES 

The Company has adopted an internal code (“Code”) to provide guidance with regards to the dealings in the Company’s 
securities by its directors and officers.

The Code provides that directors and officers of the Group are prohibited from dealing in the securities of the Company 
when they are in possession of any unpublished material price-sensitive information of the Group. The Company and 
its directors and officers of the Group are also prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities during the period 
commencing one month before the date of announcement of the Company’s half-year or full-year results and ending 
on the date of announcement of the relevant results.   

Directors and employees are also required to observe insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities 
within the permitted trading period.  In addition, the Directors and employees are expected not to deal in the Company’s 
securities for short-term considerations. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement 
of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended December 31, 2013.

1 DIRECTORS

 The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:

 Tan Yeow Khoon
 Tan Yeow Lam
 Tan Min Cheow, Benson
 Chan Soo Sen
 Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael
 Teo Lip Hua, Benedict

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement 
whose object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or 
debentures in the company or any other body corporate.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital and 
debentures of the company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by 
the company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

Shareholdings registered
in the names of directors

Shareholdings in which directors
are deemed to have an interest

Name of directors and 
company in which 
interests are held

At At At At At At
beginning end January 21, beginning end January 21,

of year  of year 2014  of year  of year 2014 

The company
(Ordinary shares)

Tan Yeow Khoon 316,975,775 325,756,775 325,756,775 10,463,000 10,463,000 10,463,000
Tan Yeow Lam 65,000,000 65,000,000 65,000,000 - - -
Tan Min Cheow, Benson 2,050,000 2,050,000 2,050,000 - - -

 By virtue of section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Mr Tan Yeow Khoon is deemed to have an interest in all the 
related corporations of the Company.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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4 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

 Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is 
required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by the 
company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which 
he has a substantial financial interest except for salaries, bonuses, other benefits and certain transactions as disclosed 
in the financial statements.   Certain directors received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as 
directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

5 SHARE OPTIONS

(a) Options to take up unissued shares

 During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group 
were granted.

(b) Options exercised

 During the financial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by virtue of 
the exercise of options to take up unissued shares.

(c) Unissued shares under options

 At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group 
under options.

6 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The Audit Committee of the company comprises three members who are non-executive and independent directors. 
The members of the Audit Committee are:

•	 Chua	Cheow	Khoon,	Michael	(Chairman)
•	 Chan	Soo	Sen
•	 Teo	Lip	Hua,	Benedict

The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in the Singapore Companies Act. The functions performed are 
detailed in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors, the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-appointment 
as external auditors of the company, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company.

7 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Tan Yeow Khoon     Tan Yeow Lam

April 3, 2014 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the company as set out on pages 34 to 69 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at December 31, 2013, and of the results, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the group and changes in equity of the company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, 
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Tan Yeow Khoon     Tan Yeow Lam

April 3, 2014

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of Cogent Holdings Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (the “group”) 
which comprise the statements of financial position of the group and the company as at December 31, 2013, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows of the group and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 34 to 69.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and 
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain 
accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the  financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and statement 
of changes in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company 
as at December 31, 2013 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the 
company for the year ended on that date.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF COGENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

April 3, 2014

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF COGENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Group Company
Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 6 47,278 35,575 7,325 9,284
Trade receivables 7 16,277 16,454 6,515 3,704
Other receivables 8 3,755 3,890 7,794 1,681
Held-for-trading investments 9 24 23 - -
Total current assets  67,334  55,942 21,634 14,669

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 124,252 49,018 7 8
Investment in subsidiaries 11 - - 34,984 34,984
Investment in joint ventures 12 201 417 - -
Other investment 36 36 - -
Other receivables 8   1,325   2,228 - -
Total non-current assets 125,814  51,699 34,991 34,992

Total assets 193,148 107,641 56,625 49,661

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Current portion of bank loans 13 2,231 1,007 - -
Current portion of deferred income 14 1,021 1,000 - -
Current portion of finance leases 15 1,422 1,187 - -
Trade payables 16 7,288 5,530 97 78
Other payables 17 42,032 21,714 2,709 1,901
Provision for reinstatement costs 18 300 - - -
Income tax payable  3,245   2,517 1 5
Total current liabilities 57,539  32,955  2,807  1,984

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 13 48,263 1,445 - -
Deferred income 14 2,003 3,000 - -
Finance leases 15 1,972 1,956 - -
Other payables 17 3,865 2,939 - -
Provision for reinstatement costs 18 1,050 1,085 - -
Deferred tax liabilities 19 515 492 - -
Total non-current liabilities 57,668  10,917 - -

Capital and reserves
Share capital 20 45,092 45,092 45,092 45,092
Capital reserve 506 506 506 506
Merger reserve (16,033) (16,033) - -
Accumulated profits  48,376  34,204  8,220  2,079
Total equity  77,941  63,769 53,818 47,677

Total liabilities and equity 193,148 107,641 56,625 49,661

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2013
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Note 2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Revenue 21 112,839 96,176

Other operating income 22 1,130 541

Cost of services (61,275) (56,441)

Employee benefits expense (21,579) (19,101)

Depreciation expense 10 (6,501) (5,650)

Other operating expenses (6,230) (5,372)

Finance costs 23 (131) (191)

Share of loss of joint ventures 12 (216) (219)

Profit before tax 18,037 9,743

Income tax expense 24  (2,908)  (1,984)

Profit for the year, representing
   total comprehensive income for the 
   year attributable to the owners of 
   the company 25  15,129  7,759

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted (cents) 26    3.16   1.62

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
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Share Merger Capital Accumulated
Note capital reserve reserve    profits    Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group

At January 1, 2012 45,092 (16,033) 506 26,445 56,010

Profit for the year, representing total 
   comprehensive income for the year     -         -        -     7,759   7,759

At December 31, 2012 45,092 (16,033) 506 34,204 63,769

Profit for the year, representing total
   comprehensive income for the year     -          -        -   15,129 15,129

Dividends, representing total transactions
   with owners, recognised directly in equity 27     -          -        -      (957)    (957)

At December 31, 2013 45,092 (16,033) 506 48,376 77,941

Share Capital Accumulated
Note capital reserve      profits      Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

At January 1, 2012 45,092 506 177 45,775

Profit for the year, representing total
   comprehensive income for the year     -       -    1,902   1,902

At December 31, 2012 45,092 506   2,079 47,677

Profit for the year, representing total
   comprehensive income for the year     -       -     7,098    7,098

Dividends, representing total transactions with owners,
   recognised directly in equity 27     -        -        (957)     (957)

At December 31, 2013 45,092 506     8,220 53,818

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
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2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax 18,037 9,743
Adjustments for:

Depreciation expense 6,501 5,650
Interest expense 131 191
Interest income (52) (89)
Dividend income (1) (2)
Allowance for doubtful trade receivables 13 50
Deferred income recognised (1,000) (1,000)
Share of loss of joint ventures 216 219
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (126) 18
Fair value gain on held-for-trading investment        (1)      (12)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 23,718 14,768

Trade receivables 164 (1,451)
Other receivables 1,038 (1,633)
Trade payables 1,758 1,424
Other payables 21,268 18,182

Cash generated from operations 47,946 31,290

Income tax paid  (2,157)    (872)
Net cash from operating activities 45,789 30,418

Investing activities
Interest received 52 89
Dividend income 1 2
Investment in joint ventures     -      (150)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note A) (31,028) (27,497)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment     333     120

Net cash used in investing activities (30,642) (27,436)

Financing activities
Interest paid (131) (191)
Dividends paid (957) -     
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (1,348) (1,148)
Repayment of bank loans (1,008) (1,640)
Pledged deposits   2,173       143

Net cash used in financing activities  (1,271)  (2,836)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  13,876   146
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  32,225 32,079
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note B)  46,101 32,225

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
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Note A

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the group made a net additional provision of $265,000 (2012 : $1,085,000) for 
reinstatement costs, and acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $81,677,000 (2012 : $29,363,000) 
of which $49,050,000 (2012 : NIL) were acquired using proceeds from a term loan and $1,599,000 (2012 : $1,866,000) were 
acquired under finance leases.  During the year, cash payment of $31,028,000 (2012 : $27,497,000) were made to purchase 
property, plant and equipment.

Note B

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 47,278 35,575
Less:  Pledged deposits  (1,177)  (3,350)
Cash and cash equivalents 46,101 32,225

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013

1 GENERAL

 The company (Registration No. 200710813D) is incorporated in Singapore with its registered office and principal 
place of business at 7 Penjuru Close, #05-00, Singapore 608779.  The company is listed on the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited.  The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.  

 The principal activity of the company is that of investment holding.

 The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 11 of the financial statements.

 The consolidated financial statements of the group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in 
equity of the company for the year ended December 31, 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of 
the company on April 3, 2014.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of FRS 102, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17, and measurements that 
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 or value in use in FRS 
36.

 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	that	the	entity	can	
access at the measurement date;

•	 Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On January 1, 2013, the group adopted all the new and revised 
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and relevant to its operations.  The adoption 
of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the group’s and company’s accounting policies 
and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except as disclosed below:

 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The group has applied the amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income retrospectively 
for the first time in the current year, and renamed the ‘statement of comprehensive income’ as the ‘statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income’. Under the amendments to FRS 1, the group will group items of other 
comprehensive income, if any, into two categories in the other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not 
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when 
specific conditions are met.  Other than the above mentioned presentation changes, the application of the amendments 
to FRS 1 does not result in any impact on profit or loss, other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new/revised FRSs and amendments to FRS 
that are relevant to the group and the company were issued but not effective:

· FRS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements 
· FRS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
· FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements
· FRS 111 Joint Arrangements
· FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
· Amendments to FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements – Investment Entities
· FRS 110, FRS 111, FRS 112 Transition Guidance
· Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
· Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards.

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs and amendments to FRS in future periods will not have 
a material impact on the financial statements of the group and of the company in the period of their initial adoption 
except for the following:

 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements

FRS 110 replaces the control assessment criteria and consolidation requirements currently in FRS 27 and INT FRS 12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

FRS 110 defines the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements.  It also provides more extensive application guidance on 
assessing control based on voting rights or other contractual rights.  Under FRS 110, control assessment will be based 
on whether an investor has (i) power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the returns. FRS 27 
remains as a standard applicable only to separate financial statements.

FRS 110 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with retrospective application 
subject to transitional provisions.

Taking into account the new defintion of control and the additional guidance on control set out in FRS 110, management 
anticipates that the application of FRS 110 will not have a material impact on the accounting for the Group’s ownership 
interest in its subsidiaries and joint ventures.

 FRS 111 Joint Arrangements and FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

FRS 111 supersedes FRS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and INT FRS 13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary 
Contributions by Venturers.

FRS 111 classifies a joint arrangement as either a joint operation or a joint venture based on the parties’ rights and 
obligations under the arrangement.  The existence of a separate legal vehicle is no longer the key factor.  A joint 
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations 
for the liabilities.  A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have rights to the 
net assets.

The joint venturer should use the equity method under the revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures to account for a joint venture.  The option to use proportionate consolidation method has been removed.  For 
joint operations, the group directly recognises its rights to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the investee 
in accordance with applicable FRSs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

FRS 111 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with retrospective application 
subject to transitional provisions. 

Management does not anticipate that the application of FRS 111 will have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements as the Group uses equity accounting for its joint ventures.

 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

FRS 112 requires an entity to provide more extensive disclosures regarding the nature of and risks associated with its 
interest in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities.

FRS 112 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014. Upon adoption of FRS 112, the 
group expects expanded disclosures relating to its interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements.

 Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

The amendments to FRS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offsetting requirements. Specifically, the 
amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a legal enforceable right of set-off’ and ‘simultaneous realisation and 
settlement’.

The amendments to FRS 32 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with retrospective 
application required. 

Management does not anticipate that the application of these amendments to FRS 32 will have a significant impact on 
the group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets

The amendments to FRS 36 restrict the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating 
unit (CGU) to periods in which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. The amendments also expand and 
clarify the disclosure requirements applicable when such asset or CGU’s recoverable amount has been determined 
on the basis of fair value less costs of disposal, such as the level of ‘fair value hierarchy’ within which the fair value 
measurement of the asset or CGU has been determined, and where the fair value measurements are at Level 2 or 3 
of the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation techniques used and any changes in that valuation technique, 
key assumptions used including discount rate(s) used.

The amendments to FRS 36 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 with retrospective 
application required.

Upon adoption of the amendments to FRS 36, the group expects additional disclosures arising from any asset 
impairment loss or reversals, and where their respective recoverable amounts are determined based on fair value less 
costs of disposal.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
company and entities controlled by the company (its subsidiaries).  Control is achieved where the company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with those used by other members of the group.

 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. The interest of non-
controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another FRS. Subsequent 
to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition 
plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

 Changes in the group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions.  The carrying amounts of the group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.  Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to owners of the company.

 When the group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests.  Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted 
for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required 
if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.  The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary 
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under 
FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are carried at cost less any 
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s statement of 
financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Effective interest method
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 

interest income or expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period.  Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis 
for debt instruments.

 Financial assets

 Loans and receivables
 Trade receivables and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less 

impairment.  Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when 
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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 Impairment of financial assets
 Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 

end of each reporting period.  Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been impacted.

 For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.   Objective evidence of impairment for a 
portfolio of receivables could include the group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number 
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

 For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar financial asset.  Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When 
a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.    Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in profit or loss.

 For financial assets measured at amortised costs, if in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
financial assets at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had 
the impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets
The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.  
If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the assets and an associated liability for amounts 
it may have to pay.  If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of 
its liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 Other financial liabilities
 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
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 Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or 
redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the company’s accounting 
policy for borrowing costs (see below).

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVPTL, 
subsequently at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognised as a provision in accordance with 
FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities
 The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

they expire.

 LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 The group as lessor
 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless 

another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset 
is diminished.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are initially capitalised and 
amortised over the lease period.

 The group as lessee
 Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the group at their fair value at the inception of the lease 

or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the statements of financial position as a finance lease obligation.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability.  Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see 
below).  Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed.  Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACTIONS - For sale and leaseback transactions which result in an operating lease, 
and it is clear that the transaction is established at fair value, any profit or loss shall be recognised immediately.  If the 
sale price is below fair value, any profit or loss shall be recognised immediately except that, if the loss is compensated 
for by future lease payments at below market price, it shall be deferred and amortised in proportion to the lease 
payments over the period for which the asset is expected to be used.  If the sale price is above fair value, the excess 
over fair value shall be deferred (recorded as deferred income) and amortised over the period for which the asset is 
expected to be used.

OTHER INVESTMENT - These comprise investment in club memberships which are stated at cost less any impairment 
in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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 Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet 
determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.    Cost includes professional fees and, for 
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these 
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

 Leasehold land and building - 25 years or over the period of lease, whichever is lower
 Office and warehouse equipment - 5 years
 Furniture and fittings - 5 years
 Leasehold improvements - 5 years or over the period of lease, whichever is lower
 Motor vehicles - 5 or 10 years

 Construction in-progress is stated at cost.   The accumulated costs will be reclassified to the appropriate property, 
plant and equipment account when the construction is substantially completed and the asset is ready for its intended 
use.  Depreciation is not provided for construction in-progress.

 The estimated useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets 
or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

 Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment still in use are retained in the financial statements.

 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS - At end of each reporting period, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-
generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES - A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the group and other parties 
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control, that is when the strategic financial and operating policy 
decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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 Where a group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the group’s share of jointly 
controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognised in the financial statements of the 
relevant entity and classified according to their nature.  Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests 
in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the company’s share 
of the output of jointly controlled assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are recognised when it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the company and their amount can be 
measured reliably.

 Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest 
are referred to as jointly controlled entities.  The company reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using the 
equity method of accounting.

 Where the company transacts with its jointly controlled entities, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the 
extent of the company’s interest in the joint venture.

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

MERGER RESERVE - Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal amount of the share capital of 
the subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by the group and the nominal amount of the share capital 
issued as consideration for the acquisition.

CAPITAL RESERVE - Capital reserve represents the difference between the reimbursement received from the vendors 
and the allocated initial public offering expenses.  The excess of allocated initial public offering expenses is recognised 
as deemed capital contribution by the vendors.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the group 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received.  Government grants are recognised 
as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on a 
systematic basis.  Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or 
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the group with no future related costs are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and 
represents amounts receivable for services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales 
related taxes.

Management service income
Revenue from rendering of management services includes transportation management services, warehousing and 
container depot management services, automotive logistics services and property management services.    Such 
revenue is recognised as and when services are rendered to the customers.
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 Rental income
 Revenue generated from rental income includes the rental of warehousing space, open storage space and commercial 

property units.  Such revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases.

 Interest income
 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable.

 Dividend income
 Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

 BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale.   Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 
expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions.  Payments made to state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to 
defined contribution plans where the group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees.  A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees 
up to the end of the reporting period.

 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in 
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in 
other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible.  The group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the  financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and 
associate, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

47
cogent holdings limited ANNUAL REPORT 2013



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.  The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.  

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 
credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the 
tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively).

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The individual financial statements of each group entity are measured and 
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).  
The consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes 
in equity of the company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the company and the 
presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

 In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.  At the end of each reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of each 
reporting period.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included 
in profit or loss for the period.

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 In the application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make 
judgements, estimations and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 (i) Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

 Apart from those involving estimations discussed below, the management has not made any critical judgement 
in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

 (ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful 
lives as set out in Note 2 to the financial statements.  Changes in the expected level and future usage can impact 
the economic useful lives of these assets with consequential impact on the future depreciation charge.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are stated in Note 10 to the financial statements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The group assesses annually whether there are any indication of impairment of property, plant and equipment.  In 
instances where there are indications of impairment, the recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment 
will be determined based on value-in-use calculations.  

These calculations require the use of judgement and estimates.  The carrying amounts of the group’s property, 
plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful receivables
 Allowance for doubtful receivables is made in the financial statements based on management’s best estimate 

of the carrying amount of receivables that are doubtful of collection after evaluation of collectibility and aging 
analysis of accounts. A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these 
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer where the 
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of trade and other 
receivables. The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 7 and 8 to the financial 
statements respectively.

 Impairment of subsidiaries
 The recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiaries was determined based on a value-in-use calculation 

using cash flow projections from financial budgets. Management had used the weighted average cost of capital 
of 5.75% (2012: 6.62%) per annum for the cash flow projection and forecasted annual revenue growth rate of 
3.1% (2012: 0.3%) for 2014, and the growth rate to remain flat thereafter. The carrying amount of investment 
in subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements. Based on management’s judgement and 
estimates, no impairment loss was recognised.

 Provision for reinstatement costs
 The group has made provision for reinstatement costs as it is required to reinstate the leased premises to their 

original condition upon the expiry of lease. The carrying amount of provision as stated in Note 18 to the financial 
statements represents management’s best estimate using comparable historical data, quotations obtained and 
industry trends.

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 

 (a) Categories of financial instruments
 The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of each reporting period:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including 
   cash and bank balances) 65,566 54,784 21,601 14,650
Held-for-trading investments       24       23      -          -     

65,590 54,807 21,601 14,650
Financial liabilities
Payables at amortised cost 105,830 33,470    2,806   1,979
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 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives
The risks associated with the group’s financial assets and liabilities are set out below. Management manages and 
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate risk management measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner. There has been no change to the group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk.

 (i) Credit risk management
The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the counterparties fail to perform their obligations 
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in 
the statements of financial position.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no significant concentration of credit risk except for the trade 
balances due from five (2012 : five) major customers amounting to $5,608,000 (2012 : $6,296,000) 
representing 34.5% (2012 : 38.3%) of total trade receivables.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with reputable financial institutions.

Further details on credit risk of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 7 and 8 to the financial 
statements respectively.

 (ii) Interest rate risk management
The group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to interest-bearing bank loans as disclosed 
in Note 13 to the financial statements.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for interest-
bearing bank loans at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated changes taking place at the beginning 
of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the case of instruments that have 
floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates. 

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
group’s profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 would decrease/increase by $252,000 (2012 : decrease/ 
increase by $12,000).  This is mainly attributable to the group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate 
borrowings.

 (iii) Foreign exchange risk management
The group’s transactions are largely denominated in Singapore dollars. Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
has not been performed as management does not expect any reasonable changes to foreign currency rates 
to have a significant impact on the results of the group.
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 (iv) Liquidity risk management
The group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management 
to finance the group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.  Funding is obtained 
via term loans and finance leases.

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses for non-derivative financial liabilities
The following table details the group’s contracted maturities for its financial liabilities. The table has been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
group can be required to pay.  The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted On
Average demand Within
effective on within 2 to 5 After

interest rate  1 year   years  5 years Adjustment Total
% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

2013

Non-interest bearing - 48,255 3,687     -         -     51,942
Variable interest rate instruments 2.18 2,782 19,109 36,571 (7,968) 50,494
Fixed interest rate instruments 1.62   1,507   2,091     -        (204)    3,394

52,544 24,887 36,571 (8,172) 105,830
2012

Non-interest bearing - 26,178 1,697     -         -     27,875
Variable interest rate instruments 3.20 1,039 1,337 154 (78) 2,452
Fixed interest rate instruments 2.02   1,263   2,093     -        (213)     3,143

28,480   5,127      154   (291)   33,470

The financial liabilities of the company are interest-free and repayable on demand or within one year from the 
end of the reporting period.

The group’s and company’s non-derivative financial assets are due on demand or within one year and interest-
free, except for fixed deposits as disclosed in Note 6, non-current portion of financial assets included in other 
receivables as disclosed in Note 8 and non-current portion of bank loans as disclosed in Note 13.

The Company has provided corporate guarantees to financial institutions in respect of financing facilities 
extended to its subsidiaries (Note 30). Management has assessed that the fair value of the corporate 
guarantees provided by the company is not material to the financial statement of the company and therefore 
is not recognised.

 (v) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables 
approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the 
financial statements. 
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

 (c) Capital risk management policies and objectives
The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the group consisted of debts (which included bank borrowings and and finance leases as 
disclosed in Notes 13 and 15 respectively) and equity attributable to equity holders of the company, comprising 
issued share capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

As a part of review of the capital structure, management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with 
each source of financing.  The management of capital structure includes making decisions relating to payment 
of dividends and the redemption of existing loans and the group’s overall strategy has remained unchanged from 
the previous financial year.

5 RELATED PARTY AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS

Some of the group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free 
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

During the year, except as disclosed in the other notes to the financial statements, the group entities entered into the 
following significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Entities with common directors / Entities in which directors have interests
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Warehousing and related services income 178 64
Transportation service income 134 162
Sale of property, plant and equipment 80 20
Warehousing and related services expense (232) (49)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7) -     
Construction of integrated logistics hub (73,413) (17,270)
Renovation services      (42)  (2,100)

(b) Joint ventures 
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Transportation services income 17 109
Container depot management and related services income 454      807

(c) Compensation of directors and key management personnel 
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management are as follows:

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 4,753 3,127
Post-employment benefits       88       70

  4,841   3,197

The amounts outstanding from related parties are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have 
been given or received. No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the 
amounts owed by related parties.
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6 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed deposits 1,177 6,350    -     -    
Cash at banks 46,066 29,105 7,324 9,194
Cash on hand       35      120       1      90
Cash and bank balances 47,278 35,575 7,325 9,284
Less:  Pledged deposits  (1,177)  (3,350)    -        -    
Cash and cash equivalents 46,101 32,225 7,325 9,284

As at December 31, 2013, the fixed deposits bore an average effective interest of 0.43% (2012 : 0.50%) per annum 
with tenure of approximately one month to one year (2012 : one month to one year).

7 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties 16,264 16,533    -       -    
Allowance for doubtful receivables    (110)    (457)    -        -    

16,154 16,076    -        -    

Subsidiaries (Note 11)     -          -      6,515 3,704
Related parties (Note 5) 26 49    -       -    
Amount due from joint venture (Note 12)       97      329    -        -    

16,277 16,454 6,515 3,704

The average credit period of the group is 30 days (2012 : 30 days). No interest is charged on outstanding balances.

 Trade receivables are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the rendering of services, determined 
by reference to past default experience.

 Before accepting any new customer, the group will assess the potential customer’s credit quality and define credit 
limits by customer.  Limits attributed to customers are reviewed periodically.

 Included in the group’s and company’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $7,950,000 and 
$6,002,000 (2012 : $8,347,000 and $3,078,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the 
group and the company have not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables as there has not been a significant 
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not hold any collateral over 
these balances.

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the group and the company consider any change in the credit 
quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. Accordingly, management 
believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful receivables.
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7 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period:
Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Not past due and not impaired 8,327   8,107 513 626
Past due but not impaired
   Within 3 months 7,329 7,454 1,411 1,108
   More than 3 months      621     893 4,591 1,970

  7,950   8,347 6,002 3,078

Trade receivables not impaired 16,277 16,454 6,515 3,704

Impaired receivables
   - collectively assessed (i) 110 457    -        -    
Less:  Allowance for doubtful receivables    (110)    (457)    -        -    

    -         -        -        -    

Total trade receivables, net 16,277 16,454 6,515 3,704

(i) These amounts are stated before any deduction for impairment losses.

 The movements in the allowance for doubtful receivables are as follows:
Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 457 501    -       -    
Amount written off during the year (360) (94)    -       -    
Allowance recognised in profit or loss       13        50    -        -    
Balance at end of year     110      457    -        -    

8 OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties 1,610 1,851    -     46
Subsidiaries (Note 11)    -     -    7,761 1,616
Receivable from disposal of property 477     882    -     -    
Staff loans 5 23    -     -    
Deposits 1,452 1,580    -     -    
Prepayment 1,536 1,782      33     19

5,080 6,118 7,794 1,681

Current 3,755 3,890 7,794 1,681
Non-current 1,325 2,228    -        -    

5,080 6,118 7,794 1,681

The other receivables due from outside parties have no fixed repayment periods and management is of the view that 
these receivables are not impaired and are recoverable.

 The company’s receivables to the subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

 The staff loans are unsecured and interest-free.
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9 HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Quoted equity investments, at fair value 24 23  -   - 

The fair values of the quoted equity investments are based on closing quoted market prices on the last market day of 
the year (Level 1).

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold Office and
land and warehouse Furniture Motor Leasehold Construction
  building    equipment  and fittings vehicles improvements   in-progress   Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group

Cost:
   At January 1, 2012 17,730 4,088 265 24,673 1,438 1,403  49,597
   Additions -     598 127 2,032 7,472 20,219 30,448
   Disposals -     (185) -  (498) -     (72) (755)
   Transfer     557    -      -      -          -         (557)      -     
   At December 31, 

2012 18,287 4,501 392 26,207 8,910 20,993 79,290
   Additions    -      507 42 3,154 1,043 77,196 81,942
   Disposals    -      (1,396) (54) (1,309) (40) (56) (2,855)
   Transfer     -         -       -      -          508    (508)      -     
   At December 31, 

2013 18,287 3,612 380 28,052 10,421 97,625 158,377

Accumulated 
depreciation:

   At January 1, 2012   5,870 3,128 190 15,372 679    -       25,239
   Depreciation  

for the year 1,863 465 52 2,535 735    -      5,650
   Disposals     -       (147)   -      (470)    -         -            (617)
   At December 31, 

2012   7,733 3,446 242 17,437 1,414    -      30,272
   Depreciation  

for the year 1,945 385 52 2,137 1,982    -      6,501
   Disposals     -      (1,394)  (53)  (1,166)      (35)    -         (2,648)
   At December 31, 

2013   9,678 2,437 241 18,408   3,361    -        34,125

Carrying amount:
   At December 31, 

2013   8,609 1,175 139   9,644   7,060 97,625 124,252

   At December 31, 
2012 10,554 1,055 150   8,770   7,496 20,993   49,018

 As at December 31, 2013, borrowing costs of $404,000 which are entirely related to the bank loan drawn down 
amounting $49,050,000 have been capitalised into construction-in-progress (Note 23).
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

As at December 31, 2013, property, plant and equipment of the group with carrying amount of $123,727,000 (2012 
: $3,562,000) are pledged as security for bank facilities disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.    As at 
December 31, 2013, motor vehicles with carrying amount of $5,051,000 (2012 : $4,044,000) are under finance lease 
arrangements disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements.

Office
equipment

Company $’000

Cost:
   At January 1, 2012,  December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013 13

Accumulated depreciation:
   At January 1, 2012   2
   Depreciation for the year   3
   At December 31, 2012   5
   Depreciation for the year   1
   At December 31, 2013   6

Carrying amount:
   At December 31, 2013   7

   At December 31, 2012   8

11 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 34,984 34,984
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11 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Details of the company’s subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Country of
incorporation

Proportion of
ownership interest Principal activity

Name of subsidiaries and operations and voting power held
2013 2012

% %

SH Cogent Logistics Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 Provision of warehousing and
container depot management
services and transportation of
containers and cargoes

Soon Hock Transportation Singapore 100 100 Provision of warehousing services
   Pte. Ltd.

Cogent Investment Singapore 100 100 Investment holding
   Group Pte. Ltd.

Cogent Automotive Singapore 100 100 Export processing, transportation
   Logistics Pte. Ltd. and storage of motor vehicles

The following subsidiary is held by SH Cogent Logistics Pte Ltd:

Cogent Land Capital Singapore 100 100 Provision of automotive logistics
   Pte. Ltd. services and property

management services

All the above subsidiaries are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

12 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 1,034 1,034
Share of post-acquisition losses   (833)   (617)
Net    201    417

Details of joint ventures of the group are as follows:
Country of

incorporation
Proportion of

ownership interest Principal activity
Name of joint ventures and operations and voting power held

2013 2012
% %

JWC Logistics Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50 50 Container depot
      management service

JW Cogent Logistics Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 50 50 Container depot
      management service
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12 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

The unaudited financial information in respect of the group’s joint ventures is summarised as follows:
Group

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities
   Current assets 746 1,483
   Current liabilities (344)   (650)

402    833

   Group’s share of net assets 201    417

Results
   Revenue 1,160 2,038
   Expenses (1,592) (2,466)
   Net loss for the year   (432)   (428)

   Group’s share of results (216) (214)
   Recognition of unabsorbed losses from prior year    -           (5)

  (216)   (219)

The net assets and profit before tax of the joint ventures represent less than 20% of the group’s consolidated net 
tangible assets and profit before tax as at the end of the reporting period.

13 BANK LOANS

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Secured - at amortised cost
Bank loans (1) 50,494  2,452   -     -  
Non-current portion of bank loans (48,263) (1,445)   -     -  
Current portion of bank loans   2,231 1,007   -     -  

The bank loans are repayable as follows:

Within one year 2,231 1,007   -     -  
Later than one year and not later than five years 15,563 1,296   -     -  
Later than five years 32,700    149   -     -  

50,494 2,452   -     -  

(1) Total bank borrowings are secured by the following:
•	 a	first	mortgage	over	certain	properties	of	a	subsidiary;
•	 fixed	charge	over	certain	property,	plant	and	equipment;	and
•	 corporate	guarantee	from	the	company.
 

 In addition, the new loans in 2013 are also secured by the following:
•	 fixed	and	floating	charge	over	all	assets	of	a	subsidiary;
•	 an	assignment	of	the	rights,	interests	and	benefits	arising	under	the	construction	contract	and	performance	bonds	relating	to	the	construction	

of a property (“Property”); and
•	 an	assignment	of	the	rights,	interests	and	benefits	arising	under	the	insurance	policies	relating	to	the	construction	of	the	Property.
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13 BANK LOANS (CONT’D)

 The annual effective interest rates for the bank loans are as follows:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Bank loans 2.18% 3.20%   -     -  

Bank loans are repayable in 53 to 179 (2012 : 7 to 66) monthly repayments and a final repayment of the balance 
amount outstanding.

14 DEFERRED INCOME

 The deferred income arose mainly from the sale and leaseback of a leasehold property by a subsidiary in 2009.  The total 
gain on disposal of the leasehold amounted to $20,561,000 of which $7,000,000 was recorded as a deferred income to be 
amortised over the next 7 years.  The gain on disposal of $13,561,000 was recorded in profit or loss in 2009 and the deferred 
income of $7,000,000 approximated the land rental and property tax payable by the subsidiary over the lease period of  
7 years in accordance with the leaseback arrangement.

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 4,000   5,000
Additions during the year 24    -    
Credit to profit or loss (1,000) (1,000)
Balance at end of year 3,024 4,000
Less:  Current portion (1,021) (1,000)
Non-current portion 2,003 3,000

15 FINANCE LEASES

Group
Present value of

Minimum lease 
payments

minimum lease 
payments

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amounts payable under finance leases:
   Within one year 1,507 1,263 1,422 1,187
   Later than one year and not later 
      than five years 2,091 2,093 1,972 1,956

3,598 3,356 3,394 3,143
Less:  Future finance charges   (204)   (213)
Present value of lease obligations 3,394 3,143
Less:  Amounts due for settlement
           within 12 months (shown 
           under current liabilities) (1,422) (1,187)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1,972  1,956
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15 FINANCE LEASES  (CONT’D)

It is the group’s policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under finance leases.  The average lease term and 
the average effective borrowing rate are as follows:

Average Average effective
lease term borrowing rate per annum

As at December 31, 2013 46 months 1.62%

As at December 31, 2012 45 months 2.02%

Interest rates are fixed at the contracted date, and thus expose the group to fair value interest rate risk.  All leases are 
on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangement has been entered into for contingent rental payments.

 The group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by its property, plant and equipment (Note 10).

16 TRADE PAYABLES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties 7,288 5,520 97 78
Related parties (Note 5)    -          10  -   - 

7,288 5,530 97 78

The group’s and company’s payables are interest-free. The average credit period on services received is 30 days (2012 
: 30 days).

17 OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties 4,328   2,797    -     63
Related parties (Note 5) 23,143 1,981 2 -    
Accruals 6,947 9,601 2,707 1,838
Rental deposits 11,479 10,274    -        -    

45,897 24,653 2,709 1,901

Current 42,032 21,714 2,709 1,901
Non-current   3,865   2,939    -        -    

45,897 24,653 2,709 1,901

The amount due to related parties pertains to the construction of integrated logistics hub (Note 5).
 
 The non-current other payables have not been discounted to present value as management is of the opinion that the 

effect would be insignificant.
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18 PROVISION FOR REINSTATEMENT COSTS

The provision for reinstatement costs is an estimation of costs to reinstate the group’s leased premises to their original 
state upon expiry of the lease.

19 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Accelerated
tax Tax

depreciation losses Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Group

At January 1, 2012  787 (93) 694
(Credit) Charge to profit or loss (Note 24) (285) 83 (202)
At December 31, 2012 502 (10) 492
Charge to profit or loss (Note 24)   13   10   23
At December 31, 2013 515   -  515

20 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
Number of ordinary shares Share capital

2013 2012 2013 2012
’000 ’000 $’000 $’000

Issued and paid up:
   At beginning and end of year 478,500 478,500 45,092 45,092

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry a right to dividends as and when declared by the company.

21 REVENUE

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Transportation management services 29,934 30,470
Warehousing and container depot management services 39,650 36,155
Automotive logistics management services 20,958 18,864
Property management services   22,297 10,687

112,839 96,176
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22 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Interest income from bank deposits 52 89
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 126 (18)
Fair value gain on held-for-trading investments 1 12
Dividend income 1 2
Insurance claims 193 4
Government grants 121 67
Net foreign exchange gain 84 -  
Administrative income 438 257
Others    114 128

1,130 541

23 FINANCE COSTS

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Interest expense to third parties 535 191
Less: Amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets (Note 10) (404) -

131 191

24 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Current tax 3,186 2,183
(Over) Under provision in prior years (301) 3
Deferred tax (Note 19)     23   (202)

2,908 1,984

Income tax is calculated at 17% (2012 : 17%) of the estimated assessable income for the year.

 The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:
Group

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Profit before tax 18,037 9,743

Tax at domestic income tax rate 3,066 1,656
Tax effect of non-allowable items 656 585
Tax concession (Productivity and Innovation Credit) (288) (91)
Tax rebate (120) (86)
Exempt income (105) (83)
(Over) Under provision in prior years   (301)       3
Total income tax expense 2,908 1,984
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25 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

 Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
Group

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Directors’ remuneration 3,465 1,766
Directors’ fees 136 116
Retirement benefit scheme contributions included
   in employee benefits expense 1,335 1,239
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss (84) 7
Fair value gain on held-for-trading investments (1) 12
Audit fees paid to auditors of the company 25 25
Audit fees paid to auditors of the subsidiaries 107 96
Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the company      15      15

26 EARNINGS PER SHARE

 The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 
is based on the following:

Earnings
Group

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Earnings for the purposes of calculation of basic and diluted 
   earnings per share (profit for the year attributable to equity 
   holders of the company) 15,129    7,759

Number of shares
Group

2013 2012
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
   purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share 478,500 478,500

27 DIVIDENDS

 For the year ended December 31, 2013, the directors propose a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 1.26 cent 
per ordinary share to be paid to shareholders, amounting to $6,029,000. This dividend is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on April 29, 2014 and has not been included as a liability in the financial 
statements.

 On May 21, 2013, the company paid a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.20 cent per ordinary share totalling 
$957,000 in respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2012 to the shareholders of the company.
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28 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 Services from which reportable segments derive their revenue

 For the purpose of the resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the group’s chief operating 
decision makers have focused on the business operating units which in turn, are segregated based on their services.  
This forms the basis of identifying the operating segments of the group under FRS 108.

 Operating segments are aggregated into a single reportable operating segment if they have similar economic 
characteristics and are similar in respect of nature of services and processes and/or their reported revenue. The 
presentation of the segment information has been changed in current year so as to provide more economic sense.

 In 2012, the group expanded its operations to provide property management services.  Accordingly, a new operating 
segment has been identified and added to the group’s reportable segments.

 The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the group’s accounting policies described in  
Note 2.

The group’s reportable operating segments under FRS 108 are as follows:

 Segment Principal activities

 (a) Transportation management services Transportation services locally for laden and empty
   containers and other cargoes, as well as provision for 
   dry hubbing logistics solutions.

 (b) Warehousing and container Rental of warehouses and provision of warehousing
     depot management services services including packing, drumming and other
   ancilliary services.  Provision of integrated container
   services comprising storage, handling, washing and 
   repair of empty containers.

 (c) Automotive logistics management services Export processing, transportation and storage of
      motor vehicles.

 (d) Property management services Property management services.

 Corporate expenses and unallocated assets relate to the provision of group level corporate service and investment 
in entities that do not constitute an operating segment.  Accordingly, corporate expenses and unallocated assets are 
presented separately to the segment information presented.

 Segment revenue represents revenue generated from both external and internal customers.  Segment profits represent 
the profit earned by each segment.  Finance costs, share of result of joint ventures and income tax are not allocated.

 
 For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief operating 

decision maker monitors the tangible and financial assets attributable to each segment.  Assets, if any, used jointly by 
reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenue earned by individual reportable segments.  Segment 
liabilities represent operating liabilities attributable to each reportable segment.  Loans and bank borrowings and tax 
liabilities are not allocated.

 These are measures reported to the chief operating decision makers for the purpose of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance.
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28 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

 Information regarding the group’s reportable segments is presented in the tables below:

 Segment revenue and profit or loss

Warehousing
and container Automotive

Transportation depot logistics Property Inter-
management management management management segment

    services         services         services        services    eliminations Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Revenue

External revenue 29,934 39,650 20,958 22,297    -     112,839
Inter-segment revenue     581     980     600     -      (2,161)      -     

30,515 40,630 21,558 22,297 (2,161) 112,839

Results

Segment profit 2,660 4,128 4,547 7,276    -     18,611
Finance costs (131)
Share of loss of joint 

ventures (216)
Corporate expenses    (227)
Profit before tax 18,037
Income tax expense  (2,908)
Profit for the year 15,129

2012

Revenue

External revenue 30,470 36,155 18,864 10,687 -    96,176
Inter-segment revenue     745   1,902     486    -     (3,133)     -     

31,215 38,057 19,350 10,687 (3,133) 96,176

Results

Segment profit 3,450 2,273 2,059 2,965 -    10,747
Finance costs (191)
Share of loss of joint 

ventures (219)
Corporate expenses     (594)
Profit before tax 9,743
Income tax expense  (1,984)
Profit for the year   7,759
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28 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Segment assets, liabilities and other segment information

Warehousing
and container Automotive

Transportation depot logistics Property Inter-
management management management management segment

    services         services         services        services    eliminations Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Assets

Segment assets 25,450 135,519 12,263 20,409 (9,153) 184,488
Investment in joint 

ventures
201

Unallocated assets     8,459
Total assets 193,148

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 6,919 34,949 8,731 13,307 (9,153) 54,753
Loans and borrowings 53,888
Income tax payable 3,245
Deferred tax liabilities 515
Unallocated liabilities    2,806
Total liabilities 115,207

2012

Assets

Segment assets 24,247 55,846 9,517 13,736 (6,761) 96,585
Investment in joint 

ventures
417

Unallocated assets   10,639
Total assets 107,641

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 6,968 14,982 9,346 8,755 (6,761) 33,290
Loans and borrowings 5,595
Income tax payable 2,517
Deferred tax liabilities 492
Unallocated liabilities    1,978
Total liabilities   43,872
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28 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

 Other segment information
Warehousing

and container Automotive
Transportation depot logistics Property

management management management management
    services         services         services        services    Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2013

Capital expenditure 2,738 78,220 303 380 81,641
Unallocated capital expenditure     301

81,942

Depreciation 1,844 2,645 226 1,401 6,116
Unallocated depreciation      385

  6,501

2012

Capital expenditure 1,975 20,789 157 7,377 30,298
Unallocated capital expenditure      150

30,448

Depreciation 1,901 2,753 224 282 5,160
Unallocated depreciation      490

  5,650

Geographical segment information

 Except for a joint venture operating in Malaysia, the group’s operations are carried out solely in Singapore.  Accordingly, 
no geographical segment information is presented.
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29 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The group as lessee
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments under operating
   leases recognised as an expense in the year   32,642   27,626

At the end of the reporting period, the commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases for rental of land, 
warehouse premises and commercial property with a term of not less than one year were as follows:

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Future minimum lease payable:

Within one year 30,088 32,770
Later than one year and not later than five years 23,101 48,951
Later than five years 38,312   35,300

91,501 117,021

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its land and warehouse premises.  Leases 
are negotiated for an average term of four years, except for leases with Jurong Town Corporation which are negotiated 
for a period up to thirty years.  Rental expenses are fixed for an average of one and a half years.

The group as lessor
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments under operating
   leases recognised as an income in the year 50,225 37,314

The group rents out its warehouse premises for storage to generate warehouse rental income and its commercial 
property to generate property rental income.

At the end of the reporting period, the group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease 
payments:

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Within one year 51,409 46,806
Later than one year and not later than five years 17,938 45,649

69,347 92,455

The rental of certain commercial property units are based on either a fixed rental sum or a fixed percentage of monthly 
gross turnovers if the turnover exceeds a certain amount. The lease commitments for such units included above are 
determined based on the fixed rental sum. 

Operating lease income represents rental receivable from the group’s warehouse premises.  Leases are committed for 
an average term of two years and rental income is fixed for an average of one year.
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30 COMMITMENTS

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bankers’ guarantees (secured)   2,436    7,896 1,039 1,069

Capital commitments 64,295 135,413    -        -    

Bankers’ guarantees issued by the banks are secured by corporate guarantees and pledged deposits.

As at December 31, 2013, the company has provided corporate guarantees to banks in respect of the banking 
facilities granted to its subsidiaries amounting to $155,152,000 (2012 : $160,979,000), of which $56,324,000 (2012 : 
$11,584,000) was utilised at the end of the reporting period.

In 2012, the group entered into two contracts for the construction of the integrated logistics hub and purchase of 
equipment for the next two years. Included in capital commitments as at the end of the reporting period was an amount 
of $64,295,000 (2012: $130,209,000) due to a related party in relation to the construction of integrated logistics hub.

31 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On March 6, 2014, SH Cogent Logistics Pte Ltd accepted Jurong Town Corporation’s offer to surrender the lease at 
No. 1 Chia Ping Road, Singapore 619967 for a sum amounting to $9,200,000. The completion of the surrender of 
lease will take place on September 30, 2014 or within such extended period as may be agreed between the parties 
in writing.

As at December 31, 2013, the net book value (“NBV”) of the Property was approximately $3,315,000.  Given that the 
consideration sum represents an excess over the NBV of the Property, the surrender of lease will result in a gain of 
approximately $5,885,000.
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GENERAL INFORMATION ON SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares        :        478,500,000
Class of shares            :        Ordinary
Voting right                  :        One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of shareholdings No. of shareholders % No. of shares %

1  -  999 9 1.25 2,225 0.00
1,000  -  10,000 307 42.46 1,490,500 0.31
10,001  -  1,000,000 390 53.94 36,995,500 7.73
1,000,001 and above 17 2.35 440,011,775 91.96
TOTAL 723 100.00 478,500,000 100.00

TOP TWENTY SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 18 MARCH 2014

No. Name of Shareholders No. of Shares % of Shares
1 TAN YEOW KHOON  316,756,775 66.20
2 TAN YEOW LAM  65,000,000 13.58
3 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  11,882,000 2.48
4 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD  9,774,000 2.04
5 NG POH CHOO  7,977,000 1.67
6 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED  5,155,000 1.08
7 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  4,879,000 1.02
8 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  3,292,000 0.69
9 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED  2,549,000 0.53
10 NG SOK MENG EVELYN  2,350,000 0.49
11 TAN MIN CHEOW ,BENSON (CHEN MINCHAO, BENSON)  2,050,000 0.43
12 ANG KIAN HUI LARRY (WANG JIANHUI)  1,700,000 0.36
13 MAYBANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PRIVATE LIMITED  1,430,000 0.30
14 LEE SI HWANG (LI SHIHENG) OR CHUA SWEE GUAN PETER  1,400,000 0.29
15 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  1,337,000 0.28
16 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD  1,275,000 0.27
17 LOW JUNRUI (LIU JUNRUI)  1,205,000 0.25
18 PAUL JONG MIN HIAN @ PAUL YONG  1,000,000 0.21
19 TEAH KHEE HWA  900,000 0.19
20 WONG CHEE SUN  860,000 0.18

TOTAL 442,771,775 92.53 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Substantial Shareholders as per Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 18 March 2014:

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Tan Yeow Khoon 325,756,775 * 68.08 10,463,000 2.19
Tan Yeow Lam 65,000,000 13.58 - -

Note: * 9,000,000 of the shares under direct interest are held through Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd. 

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

As at 18 March 2014, approximately 15.72% of the Company’s shares were held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, 
the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST which requires at least 10% of its listed 
securities are at all times held by the public.

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 18 MARCH 2014
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Cogent Holdings Limited (“the Company”) will be held at 
Jurong Country Club, 9 Science Centre Road, Singapore 609078 on Tuesday, 29 April 2014 at 2.00 pm for the following 
purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year 

ended 31 December 2013 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a first and final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 1.26 Singapore cent per share for the year 
ended 31 December 2013. (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 94 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company:

Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam (See Explanatory Note (i)) (Resolution 3)
Mr Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael (See Explanatory Note (ii)) (Resolution 4)

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$160,000 for the year ending 31 December 2014, to 
be paid half-yearly in arrears. (2013: S$136,000) (Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Auditor of the Company and to authorise the Directors of 
the Company to fix their remuneration.

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General 
Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any 
modifications:

7. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES 

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised and 
empowered to: 

(a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or 
otherwise; and/or

 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 
require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares, 

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as 
the Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue 
Shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while 
this Resolution was in force,

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
DECEMBER 31, 2013
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provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, 
made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not 
exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) 
(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of 
Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not 
exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) 
in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below); 

(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited) (“SGX-ST”) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may 
be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury 
shares) shall be based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the 
capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for: 

 (a) any new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

 (b) any new Shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and 

 (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 
provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance 
has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association of the Company; and 

(4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in 
force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by 
which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever 
is earlier.

(See Explanatory Note (iii)) (Resolution 7)

8. AUTHORITY TO GRANT AWARDS AND TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE COGENT HOLDINGS 
PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to grant awards in accordance 
with the provisions of the Cogent Holdings Performance Share Plan (“the Plan”), and to allot and issue 
from time to time such number of Shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of 
awards granted under the Plan, provided always that the aggregate number of Shares to be issued 
and/or transferred pursuant to the Plan, when added to the number of new Shares issued and 
issuable and/or transferred and transferable in respect of (a) all awards granted under the Plan, and 
(b) all options granted under any other share option, share incentive, performance share or restricted 
share plan implemented by the Company and for the time being in force, shall not exceed fifteen per 
centum (15%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the 
Company from time to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company 
in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law 
to be held, whichever is earlier. 

(See Explanatory Note (iv)) (Resolution 8)
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9. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE COGENT HOLDINGS EMPLOYEE SHARE 
OPTION SCHEME

That the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to offer and grant options in 
accordance with the rules of the Cogent Holdings Employee Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”) 
and to issue from time to time such number of Shares as may be required to be issued pursuant 
to the exercise of options granted by the Company under the Scheme, whether granted during 
the subsistence of this authority or otherwise, provided always that the aggregate number of new 
Shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme, when added to the number of new Shares issued and 
issuable in respect of (a) all options granted under the Scheme, and (b) all awards granted under 
any other share option, share incentive, performance share or restricted share plan implemented by 
the Company and for the time being in force, shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time 
and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue 
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. 

(See Explanatory Note (v)) (Resolution 9)

10. RENEWAL OF SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

That:
(1)  pursuant to Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Singapore Companies Act”), the 

Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to purchase or otherwise acquire the 
Shares in the capital of the Company not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter 
defined), at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to 
time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

 (a)  on-market purchase(s) (“Market Purchase”), transacted on the SGX-ST through the ready 
market, through one or more duly licensed stock brokers appointed by the Company for the 
purpose; and/or

 (b)  off-market purchase(s) (“Off-Market Purchase”) effected pursuant to an equal access 
scheme, as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they consider fit; and 
otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations, including but not limited to, the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, and listing rules of the SGX-ST (the “Listing 
Rules”) as may for the time being be applicable (the “Share Purchase Mandate”);

(2) the authority conferred on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate 
may be exercised by the Directors of the Company at any time and from time to time during the 
period commencing from the date of the passing of this Ordinary Resolution and expiring on the 
earlier of:

 (a)  the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company;

 (b)  the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held;

 (c)  the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share 
Purchase Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

 (d)  the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked or 
varied by the Shareholders in a general meeting;
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(3)  in this Ordinary Resolution:

 “Maximum Limit” means that number of issued Shares representing not more than 5% of the 
issued share capital of the Company as at 29 April 2014, being the date of the 2014 Annual 
General Meeting;

 “Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price 
(excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other 
related expenses) which shall not exceed:

(a)  in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price (hereinafter defined) of 
the Shares; and

(b)  in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the 
Highest Last Dealt Price (hereinafter defined) of the Shares,

where:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share for the five (5) 
consecutive Market Days (a “Market Day” being a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in 
securities) on which the Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the date of 
the Market Purchase by the Company and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the Listing 
Rules for any corporate action which occurs after the relevant five (5) Market Days;

“Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the 
SGX-ST on the Market Day on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the 
day of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase; and

(4)  the Directors of the Company and each of them be and are hereby authorised to take such steps 
and exercise such discretion and do all such acts and things as they or he may deem desirable, 
necessary or expedient to give effect to matters referred to in paragraphs 10(1), 10(2) and 10(3) 
including, without limitation, to negotiate, execute and authorise the release of, in the name 
of and on behalf of the Company, all such agreements, deeds, undertakings, forms, circulars, 
announcements, instruments, notices, communications and other documents and things, and 
to approve any amendment, alteration or modification to any such document.

(See Explanatory Note (vi)) (Resolution 10)

By Order of the Board

Lim Ka Bee
Secretary
Singapore, 

14 April 2014
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Explanatory Notes:

(i) Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam will, upon re-election continue to serve as Managing Director of the Company. Detailed information on Mr 
Edwin Tan can be found under sections entitled ‘Board of Directors’ and ‘Corporate Governance Report’ in the Company’s Annual 
Report 2013.

(ii) Mr Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
member of the Nominating Committee, member of the Remuneration Committee and will be considered independent. Detailed 
information on Mr Michael Chua can be found under sections entitled ‘Board of Directors’ and ‘Corporate Governance Report’ in the 
Company’s Annual Report 2013.

(iii) The Ordinary Resolution 7 in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by 
law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue Shares, 
make or grant Instruments convertible into Shares and to issue Shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, 
in total, 50% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may 
be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders. 

 For determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued, the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) 
will be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time 
this Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities 
or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed 
and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares.

(iv) The Ordinary Resolution 8 in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of this Meeting until 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required 
by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue and/or 
transfer Shares pursuant to the Plan provided that the aggregate number of Shares to be issued and/or transferred pursuant to the 
Plan, when added to the number of new Shares issued and issuable and/or transferred and transferable in respect of (a) all awards 
granted under the Plan, and (b) all options granted under any other share option, share incentive, performance share or restricted 
share plan implemented by the Company and for the time being in force, shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasure shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time.

(v) The Ordinary Resolution 9 in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by 
law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue Shares 
pursuant to the exercise of options granted or to be granted under the Scheme provided that the aggregate number of Shares to be 
issued  pursuant to the Scheme, when added to the number of new Shares issued and issuable in respect of (a) all options granted 
under the Scheme, and (b) all awards granted under any other share option, share incentive, performance share or restricted share 
plan implemented by the Company and for the time being in force , shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total number of 
issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time.

(vi) The proposed Resolution 10 in item 10 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to exercise all powers of the 
Company in purchasing or acquiring Shares pursuant to the terms of the Share Purchase Mandate. This authority will continue in 
force until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting or the date on which the 
purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated, 
whichever is the earlier unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting.

Notes:

1. A member of the Company (“Member”) entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint 
not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 7 Penjuru Close #05-00 Singapore 
608779 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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I/We, 

of

being a member/members of Cogent Holdings Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %
Address

 and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %
Address

 or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/
us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held at Jurong Country Club, 9 Science Centre Road, 
Singapore 609078 on Tuesday, 29 April 2014 at 2.00 pm and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the 
Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising 
at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority herein includes 
the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

No. Ordinary Resolutions No. of Votes For No. of Votes Against

1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2013

2 Payment of first and final dividend

3 Re-election of Mr Edwin Tan Yeow Lam as a Director

4 Re-election of Mr Chua Cheow Khoon, Michael as a Director

5 Approval of Directors’ fees

6 Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditor

7 Authority to issue shares

8 Authority to issue shares pursuant to the Cogent Holdings Performance Share Plan

9 Authority to issue shares pursuant to the Cogent Holdings Employee Share Option Scheme

10 Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

*  If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick (√) within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the number of 
votes as appropriate.

Dated this day of 2014.

Shares in: No. of Shares held

Signature of Shareholder(s) or, (a)  CDP Register

Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder (b)  Register of Members

*Delete where inapplicable Total

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

COGENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 200710813D) 
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

IMPORTANT: FOR CPF INVESTORS ONLY

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Cogent 
Holdings Limited’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the 
request	 of	 the	 CPF	 Approved	 Nominees	 and	 is	 sent	 solely	 FOR	
INFORMATION	ONLY.

2.	 This	Proxy	Form	is	not	valid	for	use	by	CPF	investors	and	shall	be	
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 
used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as observers must 
submit	their	requests	through	their	CPF	Approved	Nominees	within	
the	time	frame	specified.	If	they	also	wish	to	vote,	they	must	submit	
their voting instructions to the CPF Approved Nominees within the 
time frame specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.



Notes :

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 
defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have 
Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered 
against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the 
aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of 
Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by 
you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend 
and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholding 
(expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the Meeting. 
Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, 
the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 7 Penjuru Close #05-00 
Singapore 608779 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. 
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under 
the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on 
behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to 
act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his/her name in the 
Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository 
(Pte) Limited to the Company.
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